Draft Comparative Effectiveness Review

Number xx

Effectiveness of Telehealth for Women's Preventive Services

Prepared for:

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857 www.ahrq.gov

This information is distributed solely for the purposes of predissemination peer review. It has not been formally disseminated by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. The findings are subject to change based on the literature identified in the interim and peer-review/public comments and should not be referenced as definitive. It does not represent and should not be construed to represent an Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) or Department of Health and Human Services determination or policy.

Contract No. To be included in the final report.

Prepared by:

To be included in the final report.

Investigators:

To be included in the final report.

AHRQ Publication No. xx-EHCxxx <Month Year> This report is based on research conducted by the <EPC> Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) under contract to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Rockville, MD (Contract No. <#>). The findings and conclusions in this document are those of the authors, who are responsible for its contents; the findings and conclusions do not necessarily represent the views of AHRQ. Therefore, no statement in this report should be construed as an official position of AHRQ or of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

None of the investigators have any affiliations or financial involvement that conflicts with the material presented in this report.

The information in this report is intended to help healthcare decisionmakers—patients and clinicians, health system leaders, and policymakers, among others—make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of healthcare services. This report is not intended to be a substitute for the application of clinical judgment. Anyone who makes decisions concerning the provision of clinical care should consider this report in the same way as any medical reference and in conjunction with all other pertinent information, i.e., in the context of available resources and circumstances presented by individual patients.

This report is made available to the public under the terms of a licensing agreement between the author and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. This report may be used and reprinted without permission except those copyrighted materials that are clearly noted in the report. Further reproduction of those copyrighted materials is prohibited without the express permission of copyright holders.

AHRQ or U.S. Department of Health and Human Services endorsement of any derivative products that may be developed from this report, such as clinical practice guidelines, other quality enhancement tools, or reimbursement or coverage policies may not be stated or implied.

AHRQ appreciates appropriate acknowledgment and citation of its work. Suggested language for acknowledgment: This work was based on an evidence report, *Effectiveness of Telehealth for Women's Preventive Services*, by the Evidence-based Practice Center Program at the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ).

Suggested citation: To be included in the final report.

Preface

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), through its Evidence-based Practice Centers (EPCs), sponsors the development of systematic reviews to assist public- and private-sector organizations in their efforts to improve the quality of healthcare in the United States. These reviews provide comprehensive, science-based information on common, costly medical conditions, and new healthcare technologies and strategies.

Systematic reviews are the building blocks underlying evidence-based practice; they focus attention on the strength and limits of evidence from research studies about the effectiveness and safety of a clinical intervention. In the context of developing recommendations for practice, systematic reviews can help clarify whether assertions about the value of the intervention are based on strong evidence from clinical studies. For more information about AHRQ EPC systematic reviews, see www.effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/reference/purpose.cfm

AHRQ expects that these systematic reviews will be helpful to health plans, providers, purchasers, government programs, and the healthcare system as a whole. Transparency and stakeholder input are essential to the Effective Health Care Program. Please visit the website (www.effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov) to see draft research questions and reports or to join an e-mail list to learn about new program products and opportunities for input.

If you have comments on this systematic review, they may be sent by mail to the Task Order Officer named below at: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 5600 Fishers Lane, Rockville, MD 20857, or by email to epc@ahrq.hhs.gov.

David Meyers, MD Acting Director Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Craig A. Umscheid, M.D., M.S. Director Evidence-based Practice Center Program Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Arlene S. Bierman, M.D., M.S. Director Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Jill Huppert, M.D., M.P.H. Task Order Officer Center for Evidence and Practice Improvement Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the following individuals for their contributions to this project. To be included in the final report.

Technical Expert Panel

The EPC consulted several technical and content experts for input on designing the study questions, study eligibility criteria, and methodology at the outset of the report. Broad expertise and perspectives were sought. Divergent and conflicted opinions are common and perceived as healthy scientific discourse that results in a thoughtful, relevant systematic review. Therefore, in the end, study questions, design, methodologic approaches, and/or conclusions do not necessarily represent the views of individual technical and content experts.

Technical Experts must disclose any financial conflicts of interest greater than \$5,000 and any other relevant business or professional conflicts of interest. Because of their unique clinical or content expertise, individuals with potential conflicts may be retained. The TOO and the EPC work to balance, manage, or mitigate any potential conflicts of interest identified.

The list of Technical Experts will be provided with the final report.

Peer Reviewers

Prior to publication of the final evidence report, the EPC sought input from independent Peer Reviewers without financial conflicts of interest. However, the conclusions and synthesis of the scientific literature presented in this report does not necessarily represent the views of individual reviewers.

Peer Reviewers must disclose any financial conflicts of interest greater than \$5,000 and any other relevant business or professional conflicts of interest. Because of their unique clinical or content expertise, individuals with potential non-financial conflicts may be retained. The TOO and the EPC work to balance, manage, or mitigate any potential non-financial conflicts of interest identified.

The list of Peer Reviewers will be provided with the final report.

Effectiveness of Telehealth for Women's Preventive Services

Structured Abstract

Objectives. To evaluate the effectiveness, use, and implementation of telehealth for women's preventive services for reproductive health care and interpersonal violence (IPV), and to evaluate patient preferences and engagement for telehealth, particularly in the context of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.

Data sources. Ovid MEDLINE®, CINAHL®, EMBASE, and Cochrane CENTRAL databases (July 1, 2016 to August 12, 2021); manual review of reference lists; suggestions from stakeholders and responses to a Federal Register notice.

Review methods. Eligible abstracts and full-text articles of telehealth interventions were independently dual reviewed for inclusion using predefined criteria. Dual review was used for data abstraction, study-level risk of bias assessment, and strength of evidence (SOE) rating using established methods. Meta-analysis was not conducted due to heterogeneity of studies and limited available data.

Results. We identified 5,282 unique records and included 6 RCTs, one nonrandomized trial, and seven observational studies involving 9,599 participants. Of these, 7 reported on IPV services and 7 on contraceptive care, the only reproductive health service studied. Risk of bias was low in two studies, moderate in 6 trials and 5 observational studies, and high in one study. Telehealth interventions were intended to replace usual care in 12 studies and enhance or supplement care in two studies. Delivery modes included telephone (5 studies), online modules (3 studies), mobile applications (1 study), and was unclear or undefined in 5 studies. Each of these interventions resulted in outcomes similar to usual care or control groups. There were no differences for telehealth delivery of contraceptive care versus comparators for outcomes measuring contraceptive use (moderate SOE), sexually transmitted infection (STI) and pregnancy rates (low SOE); evidence was insufficient impact on abortion rates. There were no differences between telehealth versus comparator for IPV outcomes, including depression, fear of partner, coercive control, self-efficacy, and safety behaviors (low SOE). Single studies showed high satisfaction among patients and clinicians for telehealth interventions. The COVID-19 pandemic increased telehealth utilization; one survey of 10 U.S clinics reported differences by race and ethnicity. Barriers to telehealth interventions included limited internet access and digital literacy among English-speaking IPV survivors, and technical challenges and confidentiality concerns for contraceptive care. Telehealth use was facilitated by strategies to ensure safety for recipients of IPV services. Evidence was insufficient for access, health equity, or harms outcomes.

Conclusions. Limited evidence suggests that telehealth interventions for contraceptive care and IPV services are associated with clinical and patient-reported outcomes similar to in-person care. Uncertainty remains on the most effective approaches for delivering these services and how to best mobilize telehealth to address women's health care needs, particularly for those who are geographically isolated or in underserved populations.

Executive SummaryES-	1
Introduction	1
Background	1
Purpose of the Review	2
Scope and Key Questions	3
Key Questions	3
Contextual Question	3
Analytic Framework	4
Methods	5
Literature Search Strategy	5
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria and Study Selection	5
Data Abstraction and Data Management	7
Risk of Bias Assessment of Individual Studies	8
Data Analysis and Synthesis	8
Grading the Strength of the Body of Evidence	9
Assessing Applicability	9
Peer Review and Public Commentary1	0
Results1	1
Results of Literature Search1	1
Key Question 1a. What is the evidence of effectiveness of telehealth as a strategy for deliver	ry
of health care services for reproductive health?	2
Key Question 1b. What are patient preferences and patient choice in the context of telehealt	h
utilization?1	2
Key Question 1c. What is the effectiveness of patient engagement strategies for telehealth?1	2
Key Question 1d. What is the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth and	
patient engagement?1	2
Key Question 1e. What are the barriers to and facilitators of telehealth for women's	
reproductive health in low-resource settings and populations?	2
Key Question 1f. What are the harms of telehealth for women's reproductive health?1	2
Key Points1	2
Description of Included Studies1	2
Detailed Synthesis1	3
Key Question 2a. What is the evidence of effectiveness of telehealth as a strategy for	
screening and interventions for IPV?1	7
Key Question 2b. What are patient preferences and patient choice in the context of telehealt	h
utilization?1	8
Key Question 2c. What is the effectiveness of patient engagement strategies for telehealth?	8
Key Question 2d. What is the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth and	
patient engagement?	8
Key Question 2e. What are the barriers to and facilitators of telehealth for screening and	
interventions for IPV in low-resource settings and populations?	8
Key Question 2f. What are the harms of telehealth for screening and interventions for IPV?	
	8

Contents

Key Points	18
Description of Included Studies	18
Detailed Synthesis	10
Contented Synthesis.	1)
Contextual Question. what guidelines, recommendations or best practices have been	C
developed for the design and use of telehealth and virtual health technologies for wor	men for
any clinical conditions, including on patient preferences, patient choice, patient engag	gement,
and implementation in low-resource settings?	23
Family Planning Services	25
Contraception	26
Sexually Transmitted Infection Counseling	
Interpersonal Violence	
Discussion.	27
Key Findings and Strength of Evidence	27
Findings in Relation to What is Already Known	
Applicability	31
Implications for Clinical and Policy Decisions	31
Limitations of the Systematic Review Process	
Limitations of Evidence Base	
Conclusions	33
References	34
Abbreviations and Acronyms	44

Tables

Table A. Summary of Evidence: Effectiveness of Telehealth Interventions vs Comparate	or2
Table 1. PICOS - Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	6
Table 2. Main Findings by Outcomes Category of Studies of Telehealth for Reproductive	ve Health
	13
Table 3. Main Findings by Outcome Category of Studies of Telehealth for Interpersonal	1
Violence	22
Table 4. Professional Guidance for the use of Telehealth	
Table 5. Summary of Evidence of the Effectiveness of Telehealth Interventions	
Table 6. Limitations of the Evidence	

Figures

Figure 1. Analytic Framework	4
Figure 2. Literature Flow Diagram	11

Appendixes

Appendix A. Methods

Search Strategies

Table A-1. PICOS and Corresponding Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Table A-2. Table of Outcomes by Preventive Service

Table A-3. Modified Risk of Bias Assessment Tool for Pre-Post, Before-After, and Interrupted Time-Series Studies

Table A-4. Risk of Bias Criteria for Cross-Sectional Surveys

Table A-5. Definitions of the Grades of Overall Strength of Evidence

Appendix B. Results

Table B-1. Characteristics of Included studies

Appendix C. Included Studies List

Appendix D. Excluded Studies List

Appendix E. Evidence Tables

Table E-1. Study Characteristics of Trials of Telehealth for Women's Preventive Services Table E-2. Intervention Characteristics of Trials of Telehealth for Women's Preventive Services

 Table E-3. Outcomes of Trials of Telehealth for Women's Preventive Services

Table E-4. Characteristics of Studies of the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Telehealth for Women

Table E-5. Outcomes of Studies of the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Telehealth for Women

Table E-6. Barriers and Facilitators to Telehealth for Reproductive and IPV Services Appendix F. Risk of Bias assessment

Table F-1. Risk of Bias Assessment for Included Randomized Controlled Trials

Table F-2. Risk of Bias Assessment for the Included Nonrandomized Controlled Study

Table F-3. Risk of Bias Assessment for the Included Before-After Study

Table F-4. Risk of Bias Assessment for Included Cross-sectional Studies

Appendix G. Strength of the Evidence

Table G-1. Strength of Evidence

Appendix H. References

Executive Summary

Main Points

- Based on 14 studies, adolescent and adult women had mostly similar outcomes with telehealth interventions compared with in-person or usual care when presenting for contraceptive care or receiving services for screening, evaluation, or treatment of interpersonal violence (IPV).
- Two studies demonstrated that telehealth was either better or worse than usual care; the remaining 12 studies showed no difference. Evidence was most robust for IPV services and contraceptive care. There were no studies of telehealth services for family planning or STI counseling.
- Telehealth results in similar rates as comparators for contraceptive use (oral contraception, condoms, or long acting reversible contraception [LARC]) at 6 months (moderate SOE), sexually transmitted infection (STI) and pregnancy rates (low SOE); impact on abortion rates is unclear (insufficient SOE).
- Telehealth for IPV services results in similar rates of depression, fear of partner, coercive control, self-efficacy, and safety behaviors (low SOE); and unclear evidence on PTSD scores and harms (insufficient SOE).
- Studies did not adequately evaluate factors related to health equity or potential harms of telehealth.

Purpose and Background

This comparative effectiveness review aims to address the decisional dilemma about the uncertainty regarding the **effectiveness of telehealth for delivering specific preventive services for women** and how to best mobilize telehealth to address women's health care needs, particularly for those who are geographically isolated or in underserved settings or populations. This review can also serve as a resource for policymakers, practice leaders, and other stakeholders to inform future efforts to evaluate outcomes for women presenting for preventive services and populations adversely affected by disparities due to socioeconomic disadvantage, race or ethnicity, rural location, or other factors, for which there is important uncertainty regarding the use of telehealth.

Methods

This review follows standard methods for systematic reviews¹ that are further described in the full protocol available on the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) web site: <u>https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/telehealth-women-protocol.pdf</u>. The protocol was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42021282298).

Searches were conducted in Ovid MEDLINE®, CINAHL®, EMBASE, and Cochrane CENTRAL databases from July 1, 2016, to August 13, 2021, and were supplemented by manual review of reference lists and a Federal Register Notice.

Investigators developed pre-established eligibility criteria defined by populations, interventions, comparators, outcomes, and setting in accordance with established methods¹ and revised the criteria with input from the technical expert panel (TEP) and federal partners. The population

included adolescent and adult women (\geq 13 years old), including those who are pregnant, eligible for screening, counseling, or treatment for reproductive health (family planning, contraception, and STI counseling) and IPV services.

Results

A total of 5,282 references from electronic database searches and reference lists were reviewed. After dual review of titles and abstracts, 301 papers were selected for full-text review. Across all KQs, six RCTs, one nonrandomized trial, and seven observational studies on the comparative effectiveness of telehealth interventions for women's preventive services were included. Most studies evaluated the effectiveness of telehealth interventions for contraceptive care and IPV. Cross-sectional studies evaluated the effects of telehealth interventions during the COVID-19 pandemic mostly using data from surveys of clinicians and patients.

Evidence on contraceptive care mostly examined populations of non-white (62 to 75%), lower income, young (aged 16-27) women. For IPV interventions, patients were slightly older (mean age 32 years). Outcomes related to access, health equity, or health disparities were not addressed. Data on harms was extremely limited for IPV and not addressed in studies of contraceptive care. Main findings are summarized by preventive service in **Table A**.

Preventive Service	Outcome	Number of Studies;* Study Design; Participants (n)	Overall Effect	Strength of Evidence
Family Planning	NA	No Studies	NA	NA
Contraception	Contraceptive use	2 RCTs (1,724); low-income patients aged 16- 24 years; postabortion patients	Similar rates of oral contraceptive continuation and condom use at 3,6, and 12 months; similar rates of LARC use at 6 months	Moderate
	STI rates	1 RCT (1,155); low- income patients aged 16-24 years;	Similar rates of STIs	Low
	Pregnancy rates	1 RCT (1,155) low incomepatients aged 16-24 years	Similar pregnancy rates	Low
	Abortion rates	1 RCT (569); postabortion patients	Similar rates of abortion in both groups at 1 year; reduction of subsequent abortion in both groups within 2 years	Insufficient
STI counseling	NA	No studies	NA	NA
IPV	IPV rates	No studies	NA	Insufficient
	Depression scores	3 RCTs (1,190)	Telehealth is at least as effective as usual care alternatives for improving measures of depression	Low
PTSD scores		1 RCT (462)	No differences in PTSD symptoms between interactive vs. noninteractive online tools	Insufficient
	Fear, coercive control	2 RCTs (884)	No differences between interactive vs. noninteractive online tools	Low

Table A. Summary of Evidence: Effectiveness of Telehealth Interventions vs Comparator

Preventive Service	Outcome	Number of Studies;* Study Design; Participants (n)	Overall Effect	Strength of Evidence
	Self-efficacy	3 RCTs (919)	Telehealth is at least as effective as usual care alternatives for improving self-efficacy scores	Low
	Safety behaviors	3 RCTs (763)	Telehealth is at least as effective as usual care for increasing safety behaviors	Low
	Harms	1 RCT (231)	No difference in patient reported anxiety using a tailored, online safety tool vs. a static version	Insufficient

*Outcomes reported separately; the same study may report different outcomes

Abbreviations: LARC=long-acting reversible contraception; NA= not applicable; OCPs=oral contraceptive pills; PTSD=posttraumatic stress disorder; STI=sexually transmitted infection; RCT=randomized controlled trial

Strengths and Limitations

This review provides limited evidence on telehealth interventions for contraceptive care and screening, evaluation, or treatment of interpersonal violence (IPV) in adolescent and adult women, that resulted in mostly similar outcomes compared with in-person care. Limitations of this review include using only English-language articles, studies applicable to the United States, and exclusion of studies published only as abstracts. We did not conduct statistical or graphical methods for assessing for small sample effects (a potential marker for publication bias) due to small numbers of trials and heterogeneity in study design methods, patient populations, and outcomes. Other common reasons studies did not meet inclusion criteria were due to ineligible interventions, populations, or lack of comparators.

Most of the key limitations of the evidence base are related to the lack of relevant telehealth studies for these particular preventive services, the relative weakness of study designs used in this field, the rigor with which the studies were conducted, and the completeness of reporting of key outcomes. Other important limitations include the lack of data on harms.

Future Research Needs and Opportunities

Research is needed to address gaps and deficiencies of existing studies. Additional research is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of telehealth interventions for women's preventive services that have not been addressed by existing studies, including family planning and STI counseling. More research is needed to identify the disadvantages telehealth may pose in effectively delivering preventive services to specific underserved populations.

Future trials of telehealth interventions should evaluate effectiveness of different types of telehealth interventions and strategies and include patients from rural and urban settings, patients with broader age ranges and diverse backgrounds including those who are disadvantaged due to socioeconomic factors, rural location, geographic isolation, and other underserved groups at risk for health disparities including race, ethnicity, or gender identity. Trials should evaluate longer-term outcomes, include rigorous evaluation of harms, and evaluate how benefits and harms vary according to demographic characteristics, clinical factors, and patient preferences.

Implications and Conclusions

Overall evidence suggests similar effectiveness for telehealth delivery of contraceptive care to increase contraceptive use compared with usual care. Lower strength evidence also supports similar effectiveness of care for preventing IPV thru telehealth vs more traditional modes for most outcomes and insufficient for some outcomes. There is insufficient evidence for interventions of other included preventive services due to the absence of studies and methodological limitations of existing studies.

References

- Cantor A, Nelson HD, Pappas M. Wellwoman preventive visits evidence summary. Recommendations for preventive services for women : final report to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources & Services Administration / developed by the Multidisciplinary Steering Committee of the Women's Preventive Services Initiative. Washington, DC; 2017.
- 2. Phipps MG, Son S, Zahn C, et al. Women's preventive services initiative's well-woman chart: a summary of preventive health recommendations for women. Obstet Gynecol. 2019;134(3):465-9. doi: 10.1097/aog.00000000003368. PMID: 31403594.
- DeNicola N, Grossman D, Marko K, et al. Telehealth Interventions to Improve Obstetric and Gynecologic Health Outcomes: A Systematic Review. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2020;135(2):371-82. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000003646. PMID: 31977782.
- Chernick LS, Stockwell MS, Wu M, et al. Texting to increase contraceptive initiation among a dolescents in the emergency department. J Adolesc Health. 2017;61(6):786-90. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.07.021. PMID: 29056437.
- Thiel de Bocanegra H, Bradsberry M, Lewis C, et al. Do bedsider family planning mobile text message and e-mail reminders increase kept a ppointments and contraceptive coverage? Womens Health Issues. 2017;27(4):420-5. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2017.02.001. PMID: 28284586.
- Bull S, Devine S, Schmiege SJ, et al. Text messaging, teen outreach program, and sexual health behavior: a cluster randomized trial. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(S1):S117-S24. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303363. PMID: 27689478.

- Nouri S, Khoong EC, Lyles CR, et al. Addressing equity in telemedicine for chronic disease management during the Covid-19 pandemic. NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv. 2020 doi: 10.1056/CAT.20.0123.
- Lyles CR, Sarkar U. Health literacy, vulnerable patients, and health information technology use: where do we go from here? J Gen Intern Med. 2015;30(3):271-2. doi: 10.1007/s11606-014-3166-5. PMID: 25588688.
- Nouri SS, Adler-Milstein J, Thao C, et al. Patient characteristics a ssociated with objective measures of digital health tool use in the United States: a literature review. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2020;27(5):834-41. doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa024. PMID: 32364238.
- Schifeling C, Shanbhag P, Johnson A, et al. Disparities in video and telephone visits among older a dults during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional analysis. JMIR Aging. 2020;3(2):e23176. doi: 10.2196/23176. PMID: 33048821.
- Vilda D, Hardeman R, Dyer L, et al. Structural racism, racial inequities and urban-rural differences in infant mortality in the US. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2021 doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214260. PMID: 33504545.
- Saluja B, Bryant Z. How implicit bias contributes to racial disparities in maternal morbidity and mortality in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2021;30(2):270-3. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2020.8874. PMID: 33237843.
- Kozhimannil KB, Interrante JD, Henning-Smith C, et al. Rural-urban differences in severe maternal morbidity and mortality in the US, 2007-15. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(12):2077-85. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00805. PMID: 31794322.

- 14. Gadson A, Akpovi E, Mehta PK. Exploring the social determinants of racial/ethnic disparities in prenatal care utilization and maternal outcome. Semin Perinatol. 2017;41(5):308-17. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.04.008. PMID: 28625554.
- Carter EB, EleVATE Women Collaborative, Mazzoni SE. A paradigm shift to address racial inequities in perinatal healthcare. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;224(4):359-61. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.11.040. PMID: 33306974.
- Mehrotra A, Ray K, Brockmeyer DM, et al. Rapidly converting to "virtual practices": outpatient care in the era of Covid-19. NEJM catalyst innovations in care delivery. 2020;1(2).
- 17. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Methods guide for effectiveness and comparative effectiveness reviews. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); January 2014.
- Hersh W, Totten A, Eden K, et al. Health information exchange. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2015 (220):1-465. doi: 10.23970/ahrqepcerta220. PMID: 30307736.
- 19. National Heart L, and Blood Institute,. Study quality assessment tools. Bethesda, MD; 2021. <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- Berenson AB, Rahman M. A randomized controlled study of two educational interventions on a dherence with oral contraceptives and condoms. Contraception. 2012;86(6):716-24. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2012.06.007. PMID: 22840278.
- Kumar U, Pollard L, Campbell L, et al. Specia list follow-up contraceptive support after a bortion-Impact on effective contraceptive use at six months and subsequent abortions: A randomised controlled trial. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]. 2019;14(6):e0217902. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217902. PMID: 31185058.

- 22. Steiner RJ, Zapata LB, Curtis KM, et al. COVID-19 and sexual and reproductive health care: findings from primary care providers who serve a dolescents. J Adolesc Health. 2021;69(3):375-82. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.06.002. PMID: 34301467.
- 23. Stifani BM, Avila K, Levi EE. Telemedicine for contraceptive counseling: an exploratory survey of US family planning providers following rapid a doption of services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Contraception. 2021;103(3):157-62. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2020.11.006. PMID: 33212033.
- 24. Zapata LB, Curtis KM, Steiner RJ, et al. COVID-19 and family planning service delivery: findings from a survey of U.S. physicians. Prev Med. 2021;150:106664. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106664. PMID: 34081938.
- 25. Hill BJ, Lock L, Anderson B. Racial and ethnic differences in family planning telehealth use during the onset of the COVID-19 response in Arkansas, Kansas, Missouri, and Oklahoma. Contraception. 2021;104(3):262-4. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.05.016. PMID: 34058223.
- Stifani BM, Smith A, Avila K, et al. Telemedicine for contraceptive counseling: patient experiences during the early phase of the COVID-19 pandemic in New York City. Contraception. 2021;104(3):254-61. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.04.006. PMID: 33861981.
- Ford-Gilboe M, Varcoe C, Scott-Storey K, et al. Longitudinal impacts of an online safety and health intervention for women experiencing intimate partner violence: randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):260. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-8152-8. PMID: 32098633.

- 28. Gilbert L, Shaw SA, Goddard-Eckrich D, et al. Project WINGS (Women Initiating New Goals of Safety): A randomised controlled trial of a screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment (SBIRT) service to identify and address intimate partner violence victimisation among substanceusing women receiving community supervision. Crim Behav Ment Health. 2015;25(4):314-29. doi: 10.1002/cbm.1979. PMID: 26482019.
- 29. Hegarty K, Tarzia L, Valpied J, et al. An online healthy relationship tool and safety decision aid for women experiencing intimate partner violence (I-DECIDE): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Public Health. 2019;4(6):e301-e10. doi: 10.1016/s2468-2667(19)30079-9. PMID: 31155223.
- Saftlas AF, Harland KK, Wallis AB, et al. Motivational interviewing and intimate partner violence: a randomized trial. Ann Epidemiol. 2014;24(2):144-50. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.10.006. PMID: 24252714.
- 31. McFarlane J, Malecha A, Gist J, et al. Increasing the safety-promoting behaviors of abused women. Am J Nurs. 2004; 104(3):40-50; quiz -1. doi: 10.1097/00000446-200403000-00019. PMID: 15108570.
- 32. Krishnamurti T, Davis AL, Quinn B, et al. Mobile remote monitoring of intimate partner violence among pregnant patients during the COVID-19 shelter-in-place order. quality improvement pilot study. J Med Internet Res. 2021;23(2):e22790. doi: 10.2196/22790. PMID: 33605898.

- 33. Sabri B, Hartley M, Saha J, et al. Effect of COVID-19 pandemic on women's health and sa fety: a study of immigrant survivors of intimate partner violence. Health Care Women Int. 2020;41(11-12):1294-312. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2020.1833012. PMID: 33085577.
- 34. Tebb KP, Rodriguez F, Pollack LM, et al. Improving contraceptive use among Latina adolescents: a cluster-randomized controlled trial evaluating an mHealth application, Health-E You/Salud iTu. Contraception. 2021;104(3):246-53. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.03.004. PMID: 33744300.
- AhmadF, Hogg-Johnson S, Stewart DE, et al. Computer-assisted screening for intimate partner violence and control: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151(2):93-102. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-151-2-200907210-00124. PMID: 19487706.
- 36. Eden KB, Perrin NA, Hanson GC, et al. Use of online sa fety decision aid by abused women: effect on decisional conflict in a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med. 2015;48(4):372-83. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.09.027. PMID: 25547929.
- 37. Weigel G, Frederiksen BN, Ranji U, et al. Telemedicine in sexual and reproductive health. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2019. <u>https://www.kff.org/womens-healthpolicy/issue-brief/telemedicine-in-sexualand-reproductive-health/</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- Nelson HD, Cantor A, Wagner J, et al. Effectiveness of patient navigation to increase cancer screening in populations adversely affected by health disparities: a meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35(10):3026-35. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06020-9. PMID: 32700218.

Introduction

Background

In 2016, the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) partnered with the American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG) under a cooperative agreement to support the Women's Preventive Services Initiative (WPSI) to develop evidence-based guidelines for women's preventive health care services. Currently, the services informed by the WPSI guidelines are covered for most women without cost sharing under the Affordable Care Act (ACA)² resulting in a range of preventive services available to women, including contraception, counseling for sexually transmitted infections (STI), and screening for interpersonal violence (IPV), among others. Implementation of these services is guided by health equity to ensure "quality preventive health care for women at every stage of life."³ Evaluating approaches to care that are inclusive, accessible, and sustainable are important to optimize women's health and reduce disparities. Effective approaches must appeal to both patients and clinicians. As such, care models that include shared decisionmaking to elicit patient preferences are critical, as they can improve efficacy, patient and clinician satisfaction, and help reduce health disparities.⁴ Telehealth is one promising approach to meet these needs. However, coverage, reimbursement, and regulation of telehealth services have been slow to evolve.^{5,6}

Traditionally, preventive services for women are either integrated into well woman visits^{7,8} focusing on screening and prevention, or offered opportunistically in the context of managing health conditions. Recent research has found that telehealth may improve some obstetric and gynecologic outcomes⁹ and may be effective for contraceptive care.¹⁰⁻¹² "Telehealth" has been described to include services that utilize information and telecommunications technology in health care delivery for a specific patient involving a clinician across distance or time, such as remote real-time clinical visits and remote monitoring. Virtual health technologies are also considered telehealth services, and may include mobile health applications (apps) or devices that collect patient-generated health data and interventions provided over the internet, such as screening questionnaires and education, but may not be bidirectional. Telehealth for family planning, contraceptive services, and safety decision aids for survivors of IPV¹³⁻¹⁵ show promise as a way to make these services more inclusive, accessible, and cost-effective. Telehealth services have been offered for contraception¹⁶ to facilitate access for more geographically distant patients.¹⁷ Telehealth for IPV services¹⁸⁻²⁰ have demonstrated acceptability and feasibility for violence prevention and decision support for those in abusive relationships.

Telehealth may improve access for underserved populations and those facing barriers to care.²¹ However, use of telehealth could also widen disparities due to the differences in internet access and digital literacy; equity considerations including age and language barriers.²¹⁻²³ Other issues such as system factors, including access to care or provider shortages, and social determinants of health including transportation barriers, food insecurity, and trauma could also affect how and whether populations at risk for disparities access care using telehealth. Bias and structural racism²⁴ further exacerbate health disparities.²⁵ Given this context, questions remain about how to best promote access and equity while streamlining health care delivery for populations²⁶ with unacceptable, ongoing disparities in health outcomes.^{27,28} Updating the approach to preventive services and reproductive health care to include telehealth for remote counseling or monitoring may present opportunities to close the gap on these disparities.²⁹ Yet, research has not definitively addressed whether telehealth increases access to care nor whether it

results in similar or better outcomes compared with in-person care for reproductive health (including family planning, contraception, and STI counseling) and IPV in women.

The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic led to rapid adoption of telehealth as a strategy to provide health services while reducing the risk of coronavirus exposure.²⁹⁻³² The pandemic has also highlighted existing health disparities and placed a spotlight on a concerning rise in the incidence of IPV against women and girls as a direct result of COVID-19 mitigation measures, such as stay at home mandates.³³⁻³⁷ Intervention efforts for IPV must consider limitations in accessing the usual channels of support, particularly as many women have been unable to leave abusive or unstable environments due to stay at home mandates and increasing hardship, likely resulting in increased rates of IPV³⁸⁻⁴⁰, and creating new barriers to reporting. Recent survey data highlights the impact of the pandemic on the way that women use and access care.⁴¹ Compared with men, more women have skipped preventive health services (26% vs 38%), with differences based on income and overall health, and a disproportionate impact on women of color. Contraceptive access has also been impacted by the pandemic, with more women in younger (18-25 years) age groups reporting a delay or inability to access contraception. In the same survey, there were notable increases in the use of telehealth for both men and women, with high overall satisfaction in telehealth use amongst those surveyd.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act⁴² provided federal funding to increase telehealth access and provide infrastructure to increase capability and capacity for services for women including provision of family planning.⁴³ More recently, additional funding through Title X has been added to enhance and expand telehealth services for comprehensive family planning and related preventive health services.⁴⁴ However, questions remain about whether some services can, or should, continue to occur remotely after the pandemic, given issues of patient perceptions, preferences, and barriers to virtual versus inperson care. Changes in regulatory and payment policies that supported the increases in telehealth during the pandemic may inform patient and clinician preferences. Furthermore, it is also important to identify the disadvantages telehealth may pose in effectively delivering preventive services to specific underserved populations.

Purpose of the Review

This systematic review identifies and synthesizes current research on the use of telehealth for a subset of services and conditions included in the WPSI guidelines, specifically women's reproductive health (including family planning, contraception, and STI counseling), and IPV services to inform HRSA program planning and identify research gaps. A comprehensive understanding of the current context (contextual question), effectiveness (Key Question [KQ] 1a and 2a), patient preferences and engagement (KQ 1b, c and 2b, c), and implementation of telehealth in the context of COVID-19 (KQ 1d and 2d) were the foundation for the review. In addition, barriers to and facilitators of the use of telehealth in geographically isolated and underserved settings and populations (KQ 1e and 2e), and evidence about the impact of COVID-19 on the use of telehealth and virtual health for these services, will be included. Harms (KQ 1f and 2f) were also addressed.

Evidence on the impact of COVID-19 on the use of telehealth is particularly relevant.⁴⁵ Considerations for the equitable future use of telehealth as a supplement or replacement for some in-person care needs to consider patient-centered outcomes including patient preferences, content of services and frequency of visits, status of technology, and potential harms. Importantly, this review aims to address the decisional dilemma facing policymakers and practice leaders about the uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of telehealth for delivering specific preventive services and how to best mobilize telehealth to address women's health care needs, particularly for those who are geographically isolated or in underserved settings or populations. This review explicitly evaluates outcomes for populations adversely affected by disparities due to socioeconomic disadvantage, racial or ethnic minority status, rural location, or other factors as defined by the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities.⁴⁶

Scope and Key Questions

The review is defined by two overarching key questions, the first focusing on evidence about women's **reproductive health** and the second focusing on **interpersonal violence** as they relate to telehealth services. A contextual question was also examined to help inform the report. Contextual questions are not reviewed using systematic review methodology. The key questions, contextual question, and analytic framework (Figure 1) are below.

Key Questions

<u>Key Question 1</u>: For conditions related to women's reproductive health (including family planning, contraception, and STI counseling):

- a) What is the evidence of effectiveness of telehealth as a strategy for delivery of health care services for reproductive health?
- b) What are patient preferences and patient choice in the context of telehealth utilization?
- c) What is the effectiveness of patient engagement strategies for telehealth?
- d) What is the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth and patient engagement?
- e) What are the barriers to and facilitators of telehealth for women's reproductive health in low-resource settings and populations?
- f) What are the harms of telehealth for women's reproductive health?

Key Question 2: For IPV (including intimate partner violence and domestic violence):

- a) What is the evidence of effectiveness of telehealth as a strategy for screening and interventions for IPV?
- b) What are patient preferences and patient choice in the context of telehealth utilization?
- c) What is the effectiveness of patient engagement strategies for telehealth?
- d) What is the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth and patient engagement?
- e) What are the barriers to and facilitators of telehealth for screening and interventions for IPV in low-resource settings and populations?
- f) What are the harms of telehealth for screening and interventions for IPV?

Contextual Question

What guidelines, recommendations or best practices have been developed for the design and use of telehealth and virtual health technologies for women for any clinical conditions, including on patient preferences, patient choice, patient engagement, and implementation in low-resource settings?

Analytic Framework



Abbreviations: COVID-19=novel coronavirus; IPV=interpersonal violence; KQ=key questions

The analytic framework illustrates how the populations, interventions, and outcomes relate to the KQ in the review. * Outcomes vary by preventive service and are specified in Appendix Table A-2.

Methods

This Comparative Effectiveness Review (CER) follows methods of the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews (hereafter the "AHRQ Methods Guide").¹ All methods were determined a priori and a protocol was developed through a process that included collaboration with a technical expert panel (TEP), federal partners, and public input on key questions and study eligibility criteria. The protocol was registered on the PROSPERO systematic reviews registry (CRD42021282298) and published on the AHRQ web site:

https://effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/telehealth-women-protocol.pdf.

Literature Search Strategy

We conducted electronic searches in Ovid MEDLINE®, CINAHL®, EMBASE, and Cochrane CENTRAL from July 1, 2016 to August 13, 2021 (see **Appendix A** for full strategies). This captures studies of systems that rely on more current technology and follows searches from a recent report that provided an evidence map of telehealth services for women (search end date was December 2016).⁴⁷ We reviewed the studies included in the evidence map for consideration in this review and included information on the dates the studies were conducted, the technologies used, and the dates of publication. Reference lists of included systematic reviews were screened for additional studies and relevant references were carried forward. A Federal Register notification was posted to encourage submission of unpublished studies through a Supplemental Evidence and Data for Systematic review (SEADS) portal. Searches will be updated while the draft report is posted for public comment.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria and Study Selection

Criteria was established *a priori* to determine eligibility for inclusion and exclusion of abstracts in accordance with the AHRQ Methods Guide.¹⁹ Study eligibility criteria for this CER were based on the population, intervention, comparisons, outcomes, settings, and study designs of interest (PICOS) framework and the key questions. The population of interest was adolescent and adult women (\geq 13 years old), including those who are pregnant, and those eligible for screening, counseling, or treatment for reproductive health services (family planning, contraception, and STI counseling) and IPV. Details regarding the PICOS are summarized in **Table 1** with additional details in **Appendix Table A-1**. Specific outcomes for each preventive service considered are described in detail in **Appendix Table A-2**.

For this review, the term *women* is used in a biological context, where applicable (e.g., individuals with potential for becoming pregnant without contraception), and can be applied to individuals of all gender identities, including cisgender, transgender, gender non-binary, or otherwise gender expansive for relevant services.

Reproductive health services considered for this review include family planning, contraception, and STI counseling. For this review, family planning services were defined based on Title X guidelines⁴⁸ and include preconception counseling and birth spacing; contraceptive care (screening, counseling, provision, and follow-up care) was considered separately under reproductive health services. We considered contraceptive care that could be delivered via telehealth by a broad range of health care workers (e.g., physicians, nurses, pharmacists, counselors). Telehealth services for IPV include screening, diagnosis, and treatment for intimate partner violence and domestic violence.

The term *telehealth* is used to define services that may include the use of information and telecommunications technology in health care delivery for a specific patient involving a clinician across distance or time, such as remote real-time clinical visits and remote monitoring. For this review we refer to *telehealth* when considering interventions that use technology to facilitate interactions at a distance between specific patients and clinicians and are bidirectional or link to clinical care. Interactions could occur over time (asynchronous) as well as over distance. We considered telephone conversations, e-mail, and short message service (SMS) texts to be telehealth if they allow interaction between patient and clinician (bidirectional) and could replace or supplement an in-person interaction. Interventions were not included if they occurred only in one direction or if they were not personalized (e.g., phone, email or text message notifications, generic messages sent to a group of patients). For example, an app that collects data but does not involve clinical decisionmaking or individualized patient care was not eligible for inclusion, but an app or website that is bidirectional and personalized based on specific patient input was considered.

Study designs considered for inclusion were comparative studies of any design including trials and observational studies. We considered observational cohort studies, pre-post designs (i.e., comparison of the same population across time points), and before-after studies (i.e., comparison of two time points; may not have the same population). Qualitative studies that evaluated patient and clinician preferences, and barriers to and facilitators of telehealth were included. Descriptive studies with no outcome data or studies that included only data from one point in time (cross-sectional) were not included, although they were considered for studies evaluating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and for the contextual question. Also excluded were modeling studies or studies that used synthetic data. We reviewed existing systematic reviews and included their results if appropriate. References lists of systematic reviews were also used to identify relevant studies. Commentaries, letters, and articles that described telehealth systems or implementation strategies but did not assess impact were excluded, as were studies published only as conference abstracts. Inclusion was restricted to English-language articles, and studies of nonhuman subjects were excluded. Studies had to report original data to be included.

To ensure accuracy, all excluded abstracts were dual reviewed by two investigators. Each full-text article was independently reviewed for eligibility by two team members. All disagreements were resolved through a consensus process between investigators.

	Include	Exclude
Population	 Adolescent and adult women (≥13 years), regardless of pregnancy status; eligible for screening, counseling, or treatment for: Reproductive health services: (family planning, contraception, STI counseling) IPV services 	• Men • Age <13 years
Interventions	Two-way telehealth strategies linked to clinical care with direct contact between a clinician or other provider and a patient or group of patients	One-way telehealth, provider consults, or peer- led interventions not linked to clinical care
Comparators	 Usual or in-person care or traditional care models (care provided without telehealth) Telehealth + in-person care vs. in-person care alone (augmentation) Clinical services before and after COVID-19 pandemic 	No comparator or comparison groups not clearly described

Table 1. PICOS - Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

	Include	Exclude
Outcomes*	 For all conditions and services KQ 1a and 2a: Clinical effectiveness, patient health outcomes Quality of life, function KQ 1b, 1c, 1d, 2b, 2c, and 2d: Measures or descriptions of patient satisfaction, patient engagement and activation, patient choice KQ 1e and 2e: Measures or descriptions of barriers and facilitators in low-resource settings Patient-reported outcomes: patient empowerment, engagement, and satisfaction Measures of health care access, equity, and utilization Rates of screening and followup; adherence; no-shows Utilization KQ 1f and 2f: Harms (e.g. missed diagnosis, incorrect diagnosis, overdiagnosis, delay in treatment, mental health outcomes, stress, anxiety, loss to followup) Home, outpatient primary care, or primary care referable 	 Outcomes not relevant to the KQs Cost analyses Patient knowledge/education
Setting	 Home, outpatient, primary care, or primary care-referable No geographic restriction: can be urban, suburban, or rural 	studies of health care services delivered outside of health care settings (e.g., social services, churches, schools, prisons)
Country Setting	Countries with services and practice similar to the U.S. ("very high" on the United Nations Human Development Index)	Countries with significantly different health care systems and fewer resources
Study types and designs	 RCTs Cohort studies with concurrent controls for gaps in RCT evidence Cohort, pre-post and comparative surveys for before and after start of COVID-19 pandemic (March 2020) Comparative studies including trial and observational studies, including prospective and retrospective cohort studies and before-after studies (i.e., natural experiments) Qualitative studies that evaluate preferences, barriers/facilitators 	Case reports, case series
Language	English language	Non-English

*See Appendix Table A-2 for a complete list of outcomes considered for each preventive service

Abbreviations: COVID-19=novel coronavirus; IPV=interpersonal violence; KQ=key question; RCT=randomized controlled trial; STI=sexually transmitted infection; US=United States

Data Abstraction and Data Management

Dual review of abstracts was conducted using prespecified inclusion criteria and DistillerSR software. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion and consensus. Investigators tracked results in an End-Note database (Thomson Reuters). For studies meeting inclusion criteria, evidence tables were constructed with the following data: study design, year, setting, country, sample size, patient and clinician type and characteristics (e.g., age, sex, race, reason for presentation, diagnosis, clinician training/background/scope of practice and primary care or specialty type), intervention characteristics (e.g., mode of delivery, duration or frequency, function) and results relevant to each KQ as outlined in the previous PICOS section. All study data were verified for accuracy and completeness by a second team member.

Risk of Bias Assessment of Individual Studies

Predefined criteria were used to assess the risk of bias (also referred to as quality or internal validity) for each individual included study, using criteria appropriate for the study designs (Appendix A). Controlled trials and observational studies were assessed using a priori established criteria consistent with the AHRQ-EPC approach recommended in the chapter, Assessing the Risk of Bias of Individual Studies, described in the Methods Guide for *Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews*¹ (Appendix A). RCTs were evaluated using criteria and methods developed by the Cochrane Back and Neck Group,⁴⁹ cohort and other observational studies of interventions were evaluated using criteria developed by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force,⁵⁰ and followed the approach recommended in the AHRQ Methods Guide chapter "Assessing the Risk of Bias of Individual Studies When Comparing Medical Interventions."¹¹⁹For randomized controlled trials (RCTs), we focused on randomization, allocation concealment, analysis according to randomized groups (intention-totreat analysis), and attrition. Cohort studies were included to fill gaps in evidence for studies not specifically addressing the COVID-19 pandemic. For before-after studies and interrupted timeseries studies assessing effects during the COVID-19 pandemic, criteria included prespecified outcome measures, enrollment methods, and controlling of temporal trends, derived from a National Institutes of Health (NIH) checklist.⁵¹ For surveys, criteria were derived from a set of questions developed by members of this review team for a Health Information Exchange systematic review⁵² and evaluated reported response rates; sampling strategy, selection, and sample characteristics; survey questions; and consideration of confounders and analyses (see Appendix A).

Each study evaluated was independently reviewed for risk of bias by two team members. Any disagreements were resolved through consensus. Based on the risk of bias assessment, individual included studies were rated as "low," "moderate," or "high" risk of bias. High risk of bias studies were not excluded a priori, but were considered to be less reliable than low or moderate risk of bias studies when synthesizing the evidence.

Data Analysis and Synthesis

Evidence tables identify study characteristics, results of interest, and risk of bias ratings for all included studies and summary tables highlight the main findings. Studies were reviewed and highlighted using a hierarchy-of-evidence approach, where the best evidence is the focus of the synthesis for each key question. RCTs were prioritized and studies with lower risk of bias ratings were given more weight in our synthesis for each clinical indication and outcome. Since the key questions varied in nature and scope, the approach to synthesis also varied.

Quantitative data was summarized in summary tables and descriptive analysis and interpretation of the results is provided. Meta-analyses were not performed as they would not produce meaningful results due to limited numbers of studies reporting similar outcomes, and due to heterogeneity based on study design, patient population, and interventions.

Descriptive analysis and interpretation of the results were provided based on the direction and magnitude of effect. Using qualitative synthesis, we created categories of results based primarily on the direction of the effect, whether there was statistical significance or not, with less emphasis on the magnitude of the effect (e.g., large difference in benefits, no difference in harms), reporting findings according to risk of bias ratings, and summarizing results across studies grouped by preventive service and/or telehealth function/modality. For synthesis of qualitative data on barriers, facilitators, and patient preferences (KQ 1b, 1e, 2b, 2e), key statements were extracted from each study and categorized according to theme and type of preventive service (family planning, contraception, STI counseling, IPV) and results were summarized in tables.

There were not sufficient data available for any of the KQs to conduct an additional analysis of populations particularly affected by potential barriers to preventive services and telemedicine. In addition, health equity, access, utilization, and disparities were considered for inclusion but were not reported by studies.

Grading the Strength of the Body of Evidence

The strength of evidence (SOE) was assessed as high, moderate, low, or insufficient, using the approach described in the AHRQ Methods Guide,¹ based on study limitations, consistency, directness, precision, and reporting bias. These criteria were applied regardless of whether evidence was synthesized quantitatively or qualitatively. SOE was initially assessed by one researcher and confirmed by a second. Descriptions of criteria and overall grades are described in full in **Appendix A**.

SOE and the corresponding conclusions are expressed in terms of whether the outcome measured and analyzed in the studies is better, worse, or similar with telehealth compared with in-person clinical interactions without telehealth, often referred to in studies as usual care. However, usual care could have different definitions depending on the study, including in-person interactions; interactions providing enhanced versus routine counseling; generic information; information covering other health topics; or no clinical interaction. For this reason, we have provided detailed descriptions of usual care when they were included in the articles.

KQs 1b, 1d, 1e, 2b, 2d, and 2e are descriptive. When applicable, a formal SOE assessment was conducted based on study-design specific criteria. We prioritized reports of U.S. national or regional studies over local reports or data from other countries. We summarized the strengths and limitations of the data collection and analyses of the included reports for these questions, with a focus on elements such as the extent the sample represents the population of interest and the completeness and reliability of the data.

The evidence for KQs 1b, 1d, 1e, 2b, 2d, and 2e was limited and consisted of studies that used qualitative methods (e.g., interviews, case studies, focus groups) as well as quantitative methods and the studies were not comparative. We assessed SOE based on methodological limitations, coherence, adequacy, and relevance. We recognize that studies conducted or published quickly during the pandemic may contribute to overall conclusions, but may not be as rigorous as a study of the same design conducted during other timeframes. This was taken into consideration when considering the body of evidence.

Assessing Applicability

Applicability was considered according to the approach described in the *Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews.*¹ We used the PICOS framework to consider the applicability of the evidence base for each key question, for example, examining the characteristics of the patient populations (e.g., clinical condition) and study setting to determine how well the identified body of evidence matches these criteria. Information relevant for assessing applicability included the number and diversity of settings or locations as well as characteristics of the population, telehealth intervention, or implementation strategy.⁵³ Variability in the studies may limit the ability to generalize the results to other populations or settings and affect the degree of confidence on how well this evidence base can be applied to other populations and settings.

Peer Review and Public Commentary

Experts will be invited to provide external peer review of this systematic review; AHRQ and HRSA will also provide comments. In addition, the draft report will be posted on the AHRQ website for 4 weeks for public comment. Comments will be reviewed and used to inform revisions to the draft report.

Results

Results of Literature Search

A total of 5,282 references from electronic database searches and reference lists were reviewed. After dual review of titles and abstracts, 301 papers were selected for full-text review, of which 287 articles were excluded. Fourteen studies were included across all key questions: seven RCTs and seven observational studies (**Figure 2**). Results are arranged by key question, then by outcome, and are summarized below, followed by tables in the accompanying text.

Characteristics of included studies are detailed in **Appendix B.** A list of included studies can be found in **Appendix C** and excluded studies with reason for exclusion are in **Appendix D**. Data abstraction of study characteristics and results, quality assessment for all included studies, and details for grading SOE are available in **Appendixes E**, **F**, and **G**, respectively.

Figure 2. Literature Flow Diagram



*Other sources include reference lists of relevant articles, studies, and systematic reviews, suggestions from reviewers, etc.

Abbreviations: KQ = Key Question

Key Question 1a. What is the evidence of effectiveness of telehealth as a strategy for delivery of health care services for reproductive health?

Key Question 1b. What are patient preferences and patient choice in the context of telehealth utilization?

Key Question 1c. What is the effectiveness of patient engagement strategies for telehealth?

Key Question 1d. What is the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth and patient engagement?

Key Question 1e. What are the barriers to and facilitators of telehealth for women's reproductive health in low-resource settings and populations?

Key Question 1f. What are the harms of telehealth for women's reproductive health?

Key Points

- Evidence of effectiveness of telehealth interventions for contraceptive care was moderate for contraceptive use at 6 months, low for STI and pregnancy rates, and insufficient for abortion rates compared to in-person visits alone. There were no studies of family planning or STI counseling.
- Telephone counseling when used as a supplement to in-person contraceptive care probably results in similar rates of contraceptive use at 6 months (2 RCTs) and may have similar STI and pregnancy rates (1 RCT each).
- Cross-sectional surveys of primary care clinicians suggest that telehealth visits for contraceptive care increased during the COVID-19 pandemic.
- In cross-sectional surveys, the majority of patients and clinicians surveyed reported that telehealth visits for contraceptive care were satisfying and effective.
- No studies reported on patient engagement strategies (KQ1c) or harms of telehealth interventions (KQ1f) for reproductive health services.

Description of Included Studies

Two RCTS of 1,724 women and adolescents 5 non-RCTs contributed to evidence on the effect of telehealth interventions on contraceptive care (**Table 2**).^{54,55} No studies addressed family planning (e.g., birth spacing, preconception planning) or STI counseling. Both RCTs met criteria for moderate risk of bias (**Appendix F**).^{54,55} Populations ranged from 569 to 1,155 participants in reproductive health clinics⁵⁴ or abortion clinics.⁵⁵ Mean ages ranged from 16 to 27 years with the majority of participants identifying as non-White in both studies (62 to 75%). Neither study specifically reported being conducted in rural settings. Interventions with effects on contraceptive use included telephone-based support or counseling. Studies involved telephone counseling supplementation to clinic visits in young women and adolescents⁵⁴ or structured telephone support⁵⁵ for women seeking postabortion care. Comparisons included limited supplies

of contraception plus in-person counseling⁵⁴ or general advice for followup care as needed.⁵⁵ Both studies reported contraceptive use as the primary outcome; secondary outcomes included self-reported pregnancy and STI rates,⁵⁴ and subsequent abortion.⁵⁵ One trial was conducted in the United States⁵⁴ and another in the United Kingdom (U.K).⁵⁵ Each of the interventions used different approaches for contraceptive care. Overall SOE was moderate for impact on contraceptive use, low for impact on STI and pregnancy rates, and insufficient for impact on abortion rates (**Appendix G**). Detailed study characteristics and results can be found in **Appendix E**.

Five cross-sectional studies meeting inclusion criteria assessed the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the effectiveness of telehealth and patient engagement for conditions related to women's reproductive health; all studies were of contraceptive care interventions and did not evaluate STI counseling or family planning (**Table 2**).⁵⁶⁻⁶⁰ Surveyed populations included primary care and family planning clinicians, as well as women seeking reproductive care, and ranged in size from 86 to 3,142 participants. Three studies of clinicians examined delivery of telehealth visits for contraception before and during the pandemic, but data were collected at a single timepoint. Studies evaluated the types of contraceptive services provided. Two studies examined patients' use and acceptability of telehealth services for contraception during the pandemic. All five studies were conducted in the United States. Assessment of the risk of bias was low⁵⁷ to moderate^{56,58-60} (**Appendix F**). Details of studies reporting patient-centered outcomes can be found in **Appendix E**.

Studies (n Patients)	Telehealth Function*	Telehealth Mode [†]	Clinical Outcomes	Patient-reported Outcomes
2 RCTs (N=1,724) ^{54,55}	RCTs Counseling; I=1,724) ^{54,55} Contraceptive support		 Contraceptive use^{54,55} STI rates⁵⁴ Abortion rates⁵⁵ Pregnancy rates⁵⁴ 	NR
5 cross- sectional studies (N=2,026 physicians ^{57,5860} and N=3,228 patients ^{56,59})	Contraceptive care: counseling, management ⁵⁶⁻⁶⁰	Telephone; Video	NR	+Patient acceptability (quant) ⁵⁹ +Patient acceptability (qual) ⁵⁹

Table 2. Main Findings by Outcomes Category of Studies of Telehealth for Reproductive Health

Direction of effect: -, worse outcome with telehealth; ~, similar outcome with telehealth; +, improved outcome with tele

*Function categories are prevention, screening, counseling, treatment, remote monitoring

[†]Mode is a description of the technology, like phone, video, SMS, mobile app

Abbreviations: NR=none reported; RCT=randomized controlled trial; STI=sexually transmitted infection

Detailed Synthesis

KQ 1a. Effectiveness of Telehealth for Reproductive Health Services

Two RCTS evaluated telephone-based contraceptive support in addition to usual care (supplementation). An RCT evaluated two interventions on the effectiveness of behavioral counseling on oral contraceptive (OC) adherence in the United States (n=1,155); and compared standard care (S) with clinic visits (C) or clinic plus phone visits (C+P).⁵⁴ Participants were 16 to 24 years old; low income (80%); White (25%), Black (19%), and Hispanic (54%); and the

majority self- identified as single or never married (78%). Those receiving standard care received a 4-month supply of OCs, 24 condoms, and a followup appointment at the initial visit, while those in the clinic intervention also received individual educational and behavioral counseling at the initial visit; those in the phone-enhanced intervention also received weekly phone contact with a counselor until they started OCs, followed by monthly calls for 6 months. Outcomes assessed via phone interviews at 3, 6, and 12 months included contraceptive use, reported as continuation of OC. Secondary outcomes included self-reported pregnancy and STI rates. There were no significant differences in OC continuation after 12 months (C+P: 20% [76/384] vs. C: 18% [69/383] vs. S: 20% [77/388]; p=0.77), based on intention-to-treat analyses. Pregnancy (hazard ratio [HR] [95% confidence interval {CI}]: 1.07 [0.72 to 1.59] vs. 1.00 vs. 1.39 [0.95 to 2.03], p=0.22) and STI rates (13 [3.4%] vs. 18 [4.6%] vs. 12 [3.1%]; p=0.50) did not differ between study groups.

A multicenter RCT of contraceptive care following elective abortion in the U.K. evaluated the effectiveness of structured, specialist contraceptive support via telephone at 2 to 4 weeks postabortion compared with general advice to followup with a general practitioner.⁵⁵ Mean age of participants was 27 years; 65 percent were non-White. The primary outcomes were effective contraceptive use at 6 months postabortion and long-acting contraceptive use measured via self-report. There was no statistically significant difference between the telephone intervention and controls for the use of effective contraception methods at 6 months (62% [88/142] vs. 54% [80/148]; mean difference [MD] 8%; 95% CI, -3.4 to 19.2) or long-acting reversible contraception (LARC) at 6 months (42% [60/142] vs. 32% [48/148]; MD 10%; 95% CI, -1.3 to 20.9). There was a statistically significant difference in the proportion of women changing from no method or non-LARC method to a LARC method at 6 months (50%) compared with controls (31%; p=0.004). There were no significant differences between groups for the secondary outcome of subsequent abortion at 1 year (10% [26/270] vs. 10% [28/281]; p=0.10). Limitations included significant loss to followup, as well as lack of blinding and high participant attrition. Applicability was low given the limited population and narrow clinical setting of those enrolled.

In summary, we judged there to be no difference between groups in contraceptive use (two RCTs, moderate SOE) STI and pregnancy rates (one RCT, low SOE), but evidence was insufficient for abortion rates (single smaller RCT).

KQ 1b.Patient Preferences and Patient Choice for Telehealth Utilization

One study assessed patient preferences in the context of telehealth utilization for contraceptive care⁵⁹ and one study assessed utilization of telehealth services.⁵⁶ Among these patients who received care at a single-family planning clinic in New York City, 86 percent reported being "very satisfied" with their visit and 63 percent reported that the visit completely met their needs. Most of those surveyed agreed that telehealth visits should continue after the pandemic (72%) and half preferred telehealth to in-person care (50%). Though very limited in scope and generalizability, this study supports patient acceptability of telehealth for contraceptive care.

One cross-sectional study examined racial and ethnic differences in utilization of telehealth services at 10 family planning clinics located in Arkansas, Kansas, Missouri, and Oklahoma during the early pandemic (April to July, 2020).⁵⁶ Based on a review of electronic health records from this period, 40 percent of a total of 3,142 sexual and reproductive health visits were

conducted using telehealth. During this specific time period there were differences in the number of visits conducted via telehealth based on participant race or ethnicity. Among Black participants 31.6 percent of visits were conducted using telehealth, 29.2 percent of visits were among individuals reporting multiple races, and 41.2 percent of visits were among White participants. Visits among Black patients were less prevalent for telehealth visits compared to inperson visits (19.3% vs 27.7%; p<0.001), with similar patterns among those reporting multiple races (2.5% vs 4.0%; p<0.05). Visits by White patients were more prevalent among telehealth visits (61.3% vs. 58.3%; p<0.05), as were visits by Asian/Native American/Hawaiian patients (4.0% vs. 2.9%, p<0.05) and those with unknown race/ethnicity (12.9% vs 7.1%; p<0.001). There was no significant difference for patients identifying as Latinx (8.6% vs. 8.8%). Findings were limited by a narrow selection of family planning clinics in a single geographic region and did not describe the scope of family planning services; however, the majority of visits were for contraception (64%). Study authors did not further elucidate reasons for observed differences in telehealth visits between groups.

KQ 1d. Impact of COVID-19 on the Effectiveness of Telehealth and Patient Engagement

Patient Preferences and Patient Engagement

One cross-sectional survey evaluated use and acceptability of telehealth services from a patient perspective.⁵⁹ Patients who received contraceptive services via telehealth (n=86) at a family planning clinic affiliated with a large academic health center in New York between April and June, 2020 were surveyed.⁵⁹ There were 169 patients who had an eligible telehealth visit during this period based on their need for contraceptive counseling (e.g., initiate contraception, problems with current method, desire to change or discontinue methods). Of these, 86 (51%) responded to the quantitative survey and 23 participated in a qualitative, in-depth interview. Patients represented different demographic characteristics (12% White, 33% Black, 56% Hispanic), levels of education (33% high school or less), marital status (43% married/partnered), employment status (41% employed full time, 26% employed part time), and the majority (76%) reported never having prior difficulty accessing contraceptive care in the past 5 years. Patient visits primarily took place over the phone (93%) and the remainder (7%) took place via video. Most participants (94%) used smartphones for the visits. Among participating patients, 86 percent reported being "very satisfied" with their visit and 63 percent reported that the visit completely met her needs. The majority indicated that they were not concerned about privacy (67%), though 25 percent reported being somewhat or very concerned about privacy. Interviews revealed that many privacy concerns were regarded as minor and were frequently from nonprivate home environments where conversations could be overheard. Most patients (72%) agreed that telehealth visits should continue after the pandemic and 50 percent preferred telehealth to inperson care. This study was limited by small sample size from a single, specialty-focused academic health center and had a low response rate, but demonstrated that telehealth was an acceptable mode of delivering and implementing contraceptive care.

Clinician Preferences and utilization

Three cross-sectional surveys of primary care clinicians suggest an increase in provision of telehealth visits for contraceptive care during the COVID-19 pandemic and high levels (86%) of clinician and patient satisfaction when using telehealth.

A cross-sectional study described results of a survey aimed to evaluate clinician preferences and experiences with rapid expansion of telemedicine for contraceptive counseling in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.⁵⁸ The survey was given to 754 family planning clinicians and was completed by 172 (34% response rate). Participating clinicians had a mean age of 39.9 years, were primarily female (92.9%) and White (68.6%), were physicians in residency training or fellowship (39.7% and 34.6%, respectively), in mostly academic settings (75.6%) and had practice locations across the U.S. Of responders, 54.3 percent reported that they "sometimes or often" used telehealth for contraceptive care prior to the pandemic and 30.8 percent reported they "sometimes or often" used telehealth for contraceptive care during the past 2 months of the pandemic. Of those who responded, 156 reported providing telehealth services during the COVID-19 pandemic. The majority (79.5%) of clinicians strongly agreed that telehealth visits are an "effective way to provide contraceptive counseling" and 84 percent strongly agreed that the "role of telehealth for contraceptive counseling should be expanded even after the pandemic."

A cross-sectional study surveyed 791 U.S. primary care physicians who delivered sexual and reproductive health care to adolescents prior to the pandemic.⁵⁷ Data came from the national DocStyles survey of U.S. physicians. Physician specialties included internal medicine (46.0%), family medicine (31.2%), and pediatrics (22.8%). Surveys were completed between September and October, 2020 and compared pre- and during pandemic timeframes. Survey response rates were 69 percent and 76 percent for physicians in internal medicine or family medicine and pediatrics, respectively. Participants were predominantly male (64.8%), non-Hispanic White (59.7%), represented all regions of the United States, had a median age of 47 years, and a median of 16 years in practice. For contraceptive care, 60.7 percent reported that they used telehealth for contraceptive initiation or continuation during the pandemic, compared with 35.2 percent prior to the pandemic. For STI services, 43.5 percent utilized telehealth during the pandemic compared with 21.7 percent prior. Among physicians who delivered these services, 27.3 percent reported confidentiality concerns about the delivery of sexual and reproductive health care via telehealth, though the specific nature of these concerns were not described.

A cross-sectional survey of U.S physicians (n=1,063) from the web-based 2020 DocStyles survey compared changes in the provision of family planning-related clinical services before and during the COVID-19 pandemic.⁶⁰ The online survey included primary care physicians (63%), obstetrician-gynecologists (23%), and pediatricians (15%), with nine additional questions specifically evaluating family planning service delivery during the pandemic. Participants represented all U.S. regions, were predominantly male (61.5%) and mostly non-Hispanic White (62%), had practiced medicine for more than 10 years (76%), were in a suburban setting (74.6%), and were over 45 years of age (60%). Prior to the pandemic, 27.6 percent reported providing contraceptive initiation by telehealth and 29.4 percent reported managing contraceptive continuation by telehealth. During the pandemic, these proportions increased to 55.8 and 60.1 percent, respectively. Based on physician reporting, there were statistically significant differences in the proportion of those providing LARC placement (41.2% [438] vs. 36.3% [386]; p<0.05) and removal (45.1% [479] vs. 40.1% [426]; p<0.05) before versus during the pandemic and an increase in the use of telehealth for contraceptive initiation (27.6% [293] vs. 55.8% [593]; p<0.05), continuation (29.4% [313] vs. 60.1% [639], p<0.05), or renewal (54.9% [584] vs. 62.2% [661]; (p<0.05) during the same period.

These studies demonstrate strong clinician acceptability among primary care and family planning providers. Limitations include low overall survey response rates and the potential for

recall bias regarding specific services delivered and delivery timing. Studies also lacked precision in the definitions of contraceptive and STI services as well as timeframes for the periods pre- and during-pandemic.

KQ 1e. Barriers and Facilitators of Telehealth for Women's Reproductive Health Services in low resource settings

One study examined racial and ethnic differences in the uptake of telehealth services at 10 nonprofit family planning clinics located in Arkansas, Kansas, Missouri, and Oklahoma during the early pandemic (April to July, 2020).⁵⁶ This study (described above) suggests that there are barriers to participation in telehealth for contraceptive care based on demographic groups. Reasons for between-racial group differences were not explored. Another study conducted in a clinic serving the poorest area of New York City also identified privacy concerns as a potential barrier, though notably, participants reporting these concerns still participated in a telehealth visit.⁵⁹ Physicians also reported a number of barriers to providing family planning services via telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic, including: technical challenges (45.8%), confidentiality concerns (21.8%), billing concerns (32.7%), and patient discomfort (31.2%). Compared with a pre-pandemic assessment of telehealth barriers (31.7%, 17.0%, 23.1%, and 21.9%, respectively), the proportion of physicians reporting each of these barriers increased (p<0.05 for each).

In both studies, surveyed patients included only those who participated in telehealth care, so characteristics of nonparticipants (who may have been most impacted by barriers) were not described. Appendix Table E-6 provides a summary of the barriers and facilitators for telehealth interventions identified for this report.

Key Question 2a. What is the evidence of effectiveness of telehealth as a strategy for screening and interventions for IPV?

Key Question 2b. What are patient preferences and patient choice in the context of telehealth utilization?

Key Question 2c. What is the effectiveness of patient engagement strategies for telehealth?

Key Question 2d. What is the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth and patient engagement?

Key Question 2e. What are the barriers to and facilitators of telehealth for screening and interventions for IPV in low-resource settings and populations?

Key Question 2f. What are the harms of telehealth for screening and interventions for IPV?

Key Points

- No trials determined whether telehealth interventions subsequently reduced IPV.
- Low strength of evidence of effectiveness that telehealth interventions for IPV was as effective as control for reducing symptoms of depression; insufficient for reducing symptoms of posttraumatic stress syndrome; and low for reducing fear of partners or experiences of coercive control.
- Low strength of evidence that telehealth interventions for IPV were as effective as control for improving scores of self-efficacy; and low for increasing safety behaviors.
- Use of a mobile app for IPV screening in pregnant women increased during the COVID-19 pandemic compared with pre-COVID utilization rates.
- Internet access and digital literacy were reported barriers to use of web-based meeting platforms for telehealth visits among English-speaking immigrant IPV survivors.
- No trials evaluated patient preferences and choices or patient engagement strategies using telehealth interventions for IPV (KQ2b,c).
- Feeling anxious or upset while engaging with an online IPV intervention tool was similar for both intervention and control groups in the only trial evaluating potential harms.

Description of Included Studies

Four RCTs^{13,61-63} and a nonrandomized trial⁶⁴ of 1,531 women evaluated the effectiveness of telehealth methods for IPV interventions. One before-after study⁶⁵ and one cross-sectional study⁶⁶ described the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of telehealth for IPV (**Table 3**). Two RCTs met criteria for low risk of bias^{13,62} and two for moderate risk of bias;^{61,63 58} a nonrandomized trial met criteria for moderate risk of bias (**Appendix F**).⁶⁴ No trials evaluated patient preferences and choices or patient engagement strategies using telehealth interventions for IPV, and one trial of interventions also evaluated harms.⁵⁶

Trials were conducted in the United States,⁶²⁻⁶⁴ Australia,¹³ and Canada,⁶¹ and enrolled women with positive responses to IPV screening questions or recent IPV experiences. Trials enrolled between 150 to 531 women from academic medical centers,⁶¹ family planning clinics,⁶³ a district attorney's office,⁶⁴ probation programs,⁶² and through online recruitment.¹³ Participants were generally age 18 years and older.

The before-after study⁶⁵ evaluated utilization of a mobile pregnancy app; the other crosssectional study⁶⁶ used qualitative data to evaluate virtual (online) platforms for IPV services among immigrant women and providers to identify changes in IPV services and strategies to ensure safety, as well as identify barriers and facilitators to using virtual platforms. Based on modified risk of bias assessments, one study met criteria for moderate risk of bias⁶⁵ and the other for high risk of bias.⁶⁶ Both studies were conducted in the United States, one in an academic health center and the other in domestic violence organizations; sample sizes ranged from 62 to 959 participants.

Detailed Synthesis

KQ2a. Effectiveness of Telehealth for Interpersonal Violence Interventions

Four RCTs of IPV interventions showed no differences between telehealth interventions versus comparison or usual care for depressive symptoms, fear of partner, coercive control, measures of self-efficacy, and safety behaviors (low SOE). Evidence was insufficient to reach a conclusion about the comparative effectiveness of telehealth on PTSD measures and harms.

Depression and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder

Of the four RCTs of IPV interventions, three evaluated depressive symptoms and one RCT also evaluated PTSD.⁶¹ All RCTs used versions of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) to evaluate depressive symptoms, although trials did not indicate whether participants met clinical thresholds for depression based on CES-D scores.

A RCT of 306 women screening positive for IPV in family planning clinics in the United States evaluated an IPV intervention consisting of in-person motivational interviews and three subsequent telephone sessions over 4 months compared with a control intervention involving referrals to community-based resources.⁶³ Depressive symptoms, measured by CES-D scores, improved (declined) for both groups from baseline to 6 months (intervention, 15.7 vs. 11.7, p<0.001; control, 14.3 vs. 11.8, p<0.0001). In an adjusted analysis, improvements in scores were greater for the intervention versus control group (adjusted mean change [standard error {SE}], -4.2 [0.6] vs. -2.6 [0.6]; p=0.07). Limitations for this study were that the comparison did not isolate the telehealth component to determine its effect and that the referral (comparison group) was vaguely defined.

A RCT of 462 Canadian women with recent IPV evaluated depressive symptoms, measured by the revised CES-D (CESD-R), from baseline over 3, 6, and 12-month followups for women randomized to a tailored, interactive online safety and health intervention (iCAN Plan 4 Safety) or a static non-tailored version of the tool (comparison).⁶¹ In the tailored version, women received individualized responses and an action plan based on their responses to questions. Depression scores improved for both groups over time (baseline vs. 12-months: tailored, 40.62 vs. 27.95, p<0.001; non-tailored, 39.15 vs. 29.83; p<0.001), and did not differ between groups. Results were similar for PTSD symptoms, measured by the PTSD checklist, Civilian Version (PCL-C), a second primary outcome of the trial (baseline vs. 12-months: tailored, 53.00 vs. 43.29, p<0.001; non-tailored, 51.69 vs. 44.45; p<0.001; tailored vs. non-tailored, p=0.269).

In another RCT of 422 women receiving community supervision for substance use in Australia who experienced IPV or fear of a partner in the previous 6 months, interactive computer modules (I-DECIDE) were compared with a static website containing brief information about IPV and a standard emergency safety plan (comparison).¹³ The computer modules addressed healthy relationships, safety, and priorities. Based on responses, women completed an action planning or motivational interviewing module, and an individualized action plan was developed. Depression scores (CESD-R) improved for both groups from baseline to 12-month followup and did not differ between groups (intervention, 30.6 vs. 21.9; control, 32.5 vs. 21.5; p=0.163).

In summary, we judged there to be no difference between groups in depression scores (two RCTs with similar or slightly improved measures, low SOE) but evidence was insufficient for PTSD scores (single RCT).

Interpersonal Violence-Related Outcomes

In an RCT, experiences of coercive control, measured by the Women's Experiences with Battering (WEB) scale, improved (scores declined) from baseline to 12 months for women randomized to either a tailored interactive online safety and health intervention (iCAN Plan 4 Safety) or a static non-tailored version of the tool (comparison) (tailored, 50.15 vs. 39.62, p<0.001; non-tailored, 49.93 vs. 40.94; p<0.001).⁶¹ Results did not differ between groups (p=0.645). In another RCT of 422 women, the level of fear of a perpetrator, measured by responses on a visual analogue scale, similarly improved (decreased) from baseline to 12 months for women randomized to interactive computer modules (I-DECIDE) or a static website containing brief information about IPV and a standard emergency safety plan.¹³

In summary, results of both telehealth studies that evaluated interactive online tools indicated improvements in IPV-related measures for both intervention and control groups without significant differences between groups (low SOE).

Self-Efficacy

Three RCTs evaluated self-efficacy as an outcome measure.^{13,62,63} Self-efficacy scores, measured by the Generalized Self-Efficacy Scale, improved (increased) from baseline to 12 months for both groups in a RCT of 422 women evaluating interactive computer modules (I-DECIDE) compared with a static website containing brief information about IPV and a standard emergency safety plan (comparison).¹³ However, in this RCT, scores increased more in the control group (intervention, 27.0 vs. 27.8; control, 26.3 vs. 29.0; p=0.0023).

A RCT of 191 women receiving community supervision for prior substance use in the United States evaluated self-efficacy scores from baseline over 3-months followup for women randomized to computerized versus in-person services (comparison).⁶² These included IPV education, screening, and risk assessment; safety planning; identification of social support; goal setting; and identification of service needs and referrals. A printout of services selected with referrals and action plans were provided to both groups. Results indicated improved (increased) self-efficacy scores, measured by the Domestic Violence Self-Efficacy Scale (DVSE), for both groups (computerized, 20.29 vs. 22.18, p<0.001; in-person, 20.93 vs. 22.85); improvements in

scores did not differ between groups (0.36; -2.20 to 2.91). The clinical significance of the 2-point mean increase in scores is unclear.

Self-efficacy scores, measured by the DVSE, also improved from baseline to 6-months followup for both groups in a RCT of 306 women comparing in-person motivational interviews and three subsequent telephone sessions with referrals to community-based resources (comparison) (intervention, 75.9 vs. 82.1, p=0.0002; control, 76.6 vs. 80.7, p=0.0087).⁶³ In an adjusted analysis, improvements in scores did not differ between intervention versus control groups (adjusted mean change [SE], 6.1 [1.6] vs. 3.7 [1.5]; p=0.255). In summary, we judged there to be no difference between groups in self-efficacy scores (three RCTs with similar or slightly improved measures, low SOE).

Safety Behaviors

Three trials evaluated efforts to adapt safety behaviors as outcome measures.^{13,62,64} A nonrandomized trial of 150 women with protection orders against an intimate partner in the United States evaluated an intervention consisting of six telephone calls over 8 weeks to discuss safety-promoting behaviors compared with usual care.⁶⁴ Outcomes were measured using the Safety-Promoting Behavior Checklist that included 15 behaviors, such as removing weapons, hiding keys and money, and asking neighbors to call police if violence begins. Women in the intervention group averaged two new safety behaviors over the 18-month followup period (F_{4,144}=5.45, p<0.001), which was significantly higher than the control group (difference, F_{4,144}=2.81; p=0.028).

The proportion of women receiving IPV services over the previous 90 days increased from baseline over 3-months for women randomized to either computerized or in-person services (comparison) in a RCT ⁶² of 191 women receiving community supervision for substance use in the United States (computerized, 8.3% vs. 19.4%, p<0.05; in-person, 4.0% vs. 16.2%, p<0.05); changes did not differ between groups (0.51; 0.07 to 3.92).

In another RCT, the number of helpful behaviors for safety and wellbeing undertaken increased from baseline to 12 months for women randomized to interactive computer modules (I-DECIDE) or a static website containing brief information about IPV and a standard emergency safety plan.¹³ Each group adopted a mean of 4.2 actions over time, with no difference between groups. In summary, we judged there to be no difference between groups in safety behaviors scores (three RCTs with similar or slightly improved measures, low SOE)

Harms of Interventions

One trial reported potential harms of an online IPV intervention using a scoring system based on a 5-point scale.⁶¹ There was a similar number of the study population that reported that "working through the online tool made me anxious or upset" (tailored, 29.3% vs. non-tailored, 24.9%). However, there was no difference in potential harms between the tailored intervention and control group (mean [standard deviation {SD}] 3.22 [1.25] vs. 3.33 [1.21], p=0.380). No other studies evaluated harms of telehealth interventions for IPV, therefore we judged the evidence to be insufficient to make a conclusion.

KQ 2d. Impact of COVID-19

Two studies evaluated the impact of telehealth strategies to evaluate IPV screening frequency or access to services during the COVID-19 pandemic using a mobile app, phone, or video conference.

A before-after study of 950 women evaluated the use of self-screening tool for IPV as part of an optional module in a prenatal care app.⁶⁵ The population included pregnant women (80% white) attending an academic health center and compared patients who used the mobile app and completed the IPV screening module during COVID-19 stay-at-home order with patients who used the mobile app before the COVID-19 pandemic. Using a quality improvement pilot evaluation strategy, outcomes assessed included a comparison of IPV screening frequencies and IPV incidence rates during these two time periods. The mobile app provides resources to users (e.g., local shelter), analyzes user information to predict pregnancy adverse effects, and assesses patients' psychosocial risks. The IPV screening module includes two questions from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System measures of physical violence and forced sexual acts, and 10 questions from the WEB scale to quantify psychological abuse. Study results demonstrated an increased use of IPV screening mobile app during COVID-19 stay-at-home order compared with pre-pandemic use from 67% (368/552) to 85% (347/407) (95% CI, 17% to 28%; p<0.001) but reported similar levels of physical violence, sexual violence, and psychological abuse before and during the stay-at-home order (p=0.56).

In a cross-sectional study,⁶⁶ qualitative interviews were conducted with IPV survivors (n=45) and 17 providers who serve them to assess the barriers to accessing IPV services using a virtual platform during the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants included English-speaking immigrant IPV survivors from several U.S. regions (i.e., Massachusetts, New Jersey, Texas, Illinois, Maryland, Virginia, and Washington D.C.) and care providers. Interviews were conducted over the phone or via video conference to evaluate the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on their relationship, accessibility of IPV services, and identification of other pertinent needs or safety concerns. Participants reported challenges with accessing a virtual platform (i.e., lack of internet access, digital illiteracy) and preference for face-to-face interactions, as it allowed survivors to leave their homes. Providers reported strengthening their web-based platforms via code words and hand signals to mitigate risk while using video and telephone visits and using telephone applications and text messaging to check-in with survivors.

Major limitations of studies include low power to detect change in IPV incidence.^{65,66}

Studies (n patients)	Telehealth Function*	Telehealth Mode [†]	IPV-Related Outcomes	Mental Health Outcomes	Access-Related Outcomes	Patient- Reported Outcomes
4 RCTs ^{13,61-63} (N=1,381); 1 nonrandomized trial ⁶⁴ (N=150)	Counseling; education	Phone ^{13,61,62} ; online ^{63,64}	~Fear of partner ¹³ ~Coercive control ⁶¹ ~Safety behaviors ^{13,62,64}	~Depressive symptoms ~PTSD symptoms ⁶¹	NR	~Self- efficacy ^{13,62,63} ~Harms ⁶³

Table 3. Main Findings by	VOutcome Category	of Studies of T	Felehealth for I	nterpersonal Violence
rabic o. main r maingo b	y outcome outcyory			incorporational violence

Studies (n patients)	Telehealth Function*	Telehealth Mode [†]	IPV-Related Outcomes	Mental Health Outcomes	Access-Related Outcomes	Patient- Reported Outcomes
1 before-after (959) ⁶⁵ ; 1 cross- sectional (45 patients; 17 providers) ⁶⁶	Screening; assessment of access ⁶⁶	Mobile app ⁶⁵ ; phone or video conference ⁶⁶	~Levels of physical violence, sexual violence, and psychological abuse	NR	+ Use of IPV screening mobile app during COVID- 19	-Patients reported challenges with accessing virtual platform +Providers reported strengthening their virtual platforms

Direction of effect: -, worse outcome with telehealth; \sim , similar outcome with telehealth; +, improved outcome with telehealth

*Function categories are prevention, screening, counseling, treatment, remote monitoring

[†]Mode is a description of the technology, like phone, video, SMS, mobile app

Abbreviations: COVID-19=novel coronoavirus-2019; IPV=interpersonal violence; NR=not reported; PTSD=posttraumatic stress disorder; RCT=randomized controlled trial

Contextual Question. What guidelines, recommendations or best practices have been developed for the design and use of telehealth and virtual health technologies for women for any clinical conditions, including on patient preferences, patient choice, patient engagement, and implementation in low-resource settings?

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic there was a rapid shift in clinical care to provide clinical services using telehealth platforms. Slowly, guidance emerged in response to the need to support stay-at-home orders while continuing to provide clinical care, including preventive services. Initially, the move to telehealth was reactive and guided by available resources. As the pandemic progressed, data emerged about delays in screening,⁶⁷ increased incidence of advanced disease,⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰ and increasing disparities in preventive care.⁷¹ This resulted in best practices to promote the effective and equitable delivery of health care.⁷²⁻⁷⁷ Although there are no formal guidelines for telehealth delivery of preventive services, guidance by leading professional organizations for the use of telehealth services can be found in **Table 4**. None of the guidance specifically addresses low-resource settings.

As the pandemic has continued, formal guidelines from the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) and others on the health care system side have emerged as a response to billing and reimbursement needs, in addition to efforts to optimize patient health and safety, and to help guide clinicians.⁷⁸⁻⁸¹ While screening guidelines have not changed in response to the pandemic,^{82,83} methods for facilitating appropriate and timely screening have been revised to reflect the changing health care needs,⁷⁴ in particular for those at higher risk for health care disparities, including those with limited resources due to geography, socioeconomic status, or local resources.

Organization	Topic Area	Guidance/Best-Practices
American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) ⁷²	General Telehealth	Obstetrician-gynecologists and other physicians should consider becoming familiar with and adept in telehealth technology. In most states, physicians, nurses, and other health care providers must be licensed in the state where the patient is located and may also need to be credentialed at the facility where the patient is located.
		It is important that the patient-physician relationship is upheld and valued in the treatment plan, and physicians who provide telehealth should examine their state laws and medical board definitions closely to ensure that their practices are compliant.
		Obstetrician-gynecologists and other physicians who provide telehealth should make certain that they have the necessary hardware, software, and a reliable, secure internet connection to ensure quality care and patient safety.
		Physicians who provide telehealth must comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) privacy and security rules and also should be aware of the unique security risks posed by virtual health care technology, which can be vulnerable to outside threats
		In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, many elements of a well-woman examination might be conducted with virtual counseling sessions, with the in-person physical examination deferred to a later date or performed on an as-needed basis. ⁷³
Women's Preventive Services Initiative (WPSI) ⁷⁴	General Telehealth, preventive services	The WPSI encourages health care professionals to continue to offer preventive services for their patients through telehealth platforms whenever possible. Health care professionals should consider telehealth modalities as an alternative to in-person preventive visits and services.
		Many preventive services on the Well Woman Chart (<i>link</i>) that involve screening, assessment, and counseling can be done via telehealth. It is important to note that in some situations, a physical examination may be indicated to address the particular preventive service being addressed. However, some aspects of the preventive visit, such as obtaining relevant medical history, family history, review of systems, counseling, education, and potential prescription could occur via telehealth, with the physical examination conducted at a later time during a subsequent in-person visit.
		 The following preventive services may be done via telehealth: Contraceptive counseling, discussion of methods, and prescribing contraceptives that do not require an in-person visit such as intrauterine devices or implants. Interpersonal and domestic violence screening and discussion of available resources
		 Sexually Transmitted Infection prevention counseling Postpartum contraceptive counseling, discussion of methods, and prescribing contraceptives that do not require an in-person visit such as intrauterine devices or implants Counseling regarding folic acid supplementation
USPSTF	Preventive services	The USPSTF does not have formal guidelines regarding telehealth, however, they do note preventive services that could easily get worse over time should be continued via telehealth and if appropriate, in-person visits. IPV may be hard to recognize via telehealth.

Table 4. Professional Guidance for the use of Telehealth

Organization	Topic Area	Guidance/Best-Practices
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) ^{75,76}	General Telehealth during COVID-19 pandemic	Telehealth services can facilitate public health mitigation strategies during this pandemic by increasing social distancing. These services can be a safer option for health care providers and patients by reducing potential infectious exposures. They can reduce the strain on healthcare systems by minimizing the surge of patient demand on facilities and reduce the use of PPE by healthcare providers. Maintaining continuity of care to the extent possible can avoid additional negative consequences from delayed preventive, chronic, or routine care. Remote access to healthcare services may increase participation for those who are medically or socially vulnerable or who do not have ready access to providers. Remote access can also help preserve the patient-provider relationship at times when an in-person visit is not practical or feasible.
		During COVID-19, it is critical that access to family planning services remains available while keeping healthcare providers and their patients safe.
American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP) ⁸⁴	General Telehealth and Telemedicine	The AAFP supports expanded use of telehealth and telemedicine as an appropriate and efficient means of improving health, when conducted within the context of appropriate standards of care. The appropriateness of a telemedicine service should be dictated by the standard of care and not by arbitrary policies. Available technology capabilities as well as an existing physician-patient relationship impact whether the standard of care can be achieved for a specific patient encounter type. The AAFP recommends streamlined licensure processes for obtaining several medical licenses that would facilitate the ability of physicians to provide telemedicine services in multiple states. The AAFP encourages states to engage in reciprocity compacts for physician licensing, especially to permit the use of telemedicine. Within a state licensure framework, the AAFP strongly believes that patients with an established relationship, who are traveling, should be allowed to be treated by their primary care physician, so long as the physician is licensed in the state in which the patient receives their usual care. As telemedicine services are expanded and utilized to achieve the desired aims, it is imperative that outcomes are closely monitored to ensure disparities in care are not widened among vulnerable populations, attributed to increased use of telemedicine. Policies should acknowledge the geographical and socioeconomic disparities that exist and could be exacerbated by the improper adoption of telehealth if not explicitly addressed.
		Access to broadband is a social determinant of health. All patients and practices should have broadband access to support delivery of telehealth services in accordance with AAFP's policy on Health Care for All.
American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) ⁷⁷	Telehealth during COVID-19 pandemic	Updated AAP interimguidance strongly urges continued use of telehealth and in-person services so that all children and adolescents have access to health care during and after the pandemic.

Abbreviations: STD=sexually transmitted disease; STI=sexually transmitted infection; USPSTF=United States Preventive Services Task Force; WPSI= women's preventive services initiativeFamily Planning Services

Many organizations, including ACOG, American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP), World Health Organization (WHO), International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics (FIGO), and WPSI among others,⁸⁵ have recommended that access to family planning services should be available via telehealth, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic.^{72,76} Notably, some of these services were offered via telehealth prior to the pandemic and were effective and acceptable to both patients and clinicians.⁹ These services have continued to remain feasible, safe and acceptable for patients throughout the pandemic.⁸⁶

Contraception

Several groups, including those who support the use of telehealth for family planning services,⁸⁵ have recommended reducing barriers to contraceptive access during the COVID-19 pandemic through a variety of mechanisms. These include performing new patient contraceptive visits via telehealth, prescribing multi-month contraception at reduced or no cost, providing counseling about postponing removal of LARC, prioritizing in-person contraceptive visits to placement of LARC while performing pre-procedural counseling via telehealth, training and offering self-administered injectable contraception, and utilizing pharmacist prescribed contraception.⁸⁷

Sexually Transmitted Infection Counseling

No organizations provide specific guidance or recommendations for STI counseling via telehealth. Recommendations by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) suggest reducing barriers to STI testing by increasing access to self-collected STI screening, when appropriate. The CDC and AAP recommend that in-person STI management be reserved for symptomatic patients who have a risk for developing complications, while low-risk STI screening and uncomplicated symptom management be performed via telehealth.^{88,89}

Interpersonal Violence

A proposed option to facilitate routine screening for IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic is to include telehealth via technology-enabled interventions, which has been shown to be preferred by IPV survivors in other contexts.^{36,90} Organizations such as the National Network to End Domestic Violence, the National Coalition Against Domestic Violence, the National Domestic Violence Hotline, the Sexual Violence Research Initiative, and the Center for Court Innovation have emphasized the importance of continued screening via telehealth visits with clinicians using trauma informed approaches.^{36,90} While telehealth may offer many benefits and can provide IPV screening that might otherwise not be available under stay-home orders, organizations have recommended that digital tools should be used to augment screening rather than replace it entirely.^{36,90} More research is needed to identify how digital screening tools and telehealth IPV screening could negatively impact underserved patients. It is recommended that providers who serve immigrant communities be trained to be culturally sensitive when addressing the issue of IPV, and to be able to provide local resources specifically for immigrant patients.⁶⁶ Prior to the pandemic, online resources allowed for effective screening, and this remains a promising tool in order to improve access to care and promote patient safety given the ongoing pandemic. Screening for IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic has presented many challenges.

Discussion

Key Findings and Strength of Evidence

The key findings of this review are summarized in **Table 5** and in the SOE table (**Appendix Table G-1**). Fourteen studies were identified for inclusion and were limited to contraceptive care and IPV services (6 RCTs, 1 nonrandomized trial, 1 before-after study, and 6 cross-sectional studies). We found no differences in outcomes between telehealth interventions and comparisons for contraceptive use (moderate SOE), STI and pregnancy rates (low SOE), and insufficient evidence for rates of abortion. For IPV services, there were no differences between telehealth interventions and comparisons for depressive symptoms, fear, coercive control, self-efficacy, and safety behaviors (low SOE), and insufficient evidence for harms of interventions. There were no studies that evaluated harms of telehealth interventions for reproductive health services, including contraceptive care.

Telehealth interventions included both synchronous and asynchronous interventions aimed at providing access to reproductive health or IPV services outside of an in-person clinical visit using video, websites, mobile app, or telephone to supplement or replace in-person care. Findings suggest that several strategies could facilitate the uptake of telehealth for these preventive services and can result in outcomes mostly similar to in-person care.

Surveys of clinicians utilizing telehealth for contraceptive care during the COVID-19 pandemic demonstrate an increase in telehealth visits compared with pre-pandemic use. Both patients and clinicians found telehealth for contraceptive care to be satisfying and effective.

Studies evaluating the effectiveness of telehealth methods for IPV screening demonstrated differences in scores for depression favoring the intervention in one trial but not 2 others; increase in self-efficacy favoring the control group in one trial; more safety behaviors for intervention group in one trial. Trials indicated no differences for other outcomes. Measures were predominantly based on clinical scales that may have limited relevance or unclear diagnostic implications. Surveys reflect how strategies to ensure safety when using virtual platforms for IPV interventions are critical.

Studies conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic were largely cross-sectional studies that did not assess the impact of pandemic on telehealth services provided or the effectiveness of care. Rather, these studies report a snapshot of utilization patterns or patient perspectives and a low level of evidence to inform this question. For example, a study conducted in 10 family planning clinics in different states reported differences in rates of utilization by race and ethnicity. The study reported the number of patients who accessed services during the pandemic and captured differences in uptake and use. While it may reflect potential barriers to telehealth and disparities in access, it does not account for other contributing factors such as social determinants of health, technology services, internet access, or translation services. Studies do not account for regional differences on the impact of the pandemic nor do they account for clinic-level differences in available resources for telehealth provision. While some studies report on service acceptability,^{58,59} measures of effectiveness are notably absent. The cross-sectional design of the available studies also increases the risk of recall bias from participants.

Barriers to telehealth implementation include limitations in internet access, lack of comfort with technology, and lack of resources for engaging in telehealth services. The impact of telehealth on patient engagement, access to care, health equity, and harms is uncertain.

Our review highlights a substantial gap in the evidence to inform telehealth interventions for family planning, contraception, STI screening, and IPV services. More evidence is needed on the benefits or potential harms of these interventions. While some findings of this review suggest a small benefit for a limited number of outcomes, further well-designed studies, such as RCTs with clearly defined comparison groups and health outcomes, are needed to improve understanding around the effective telehealth interventions that address women's preventive health care needs.

				Number of Studies;* Study		
Preventive				Design;		
Service	Outcome	Intervention	Comparison	Participants (n)	Overall Effect	SOE
Family Planning	NA	NA	NA	No Studies	NA	NA
Contraception	Contraceptive use	Supplemental telephone counseling; Structured telephone support ⁵⁵	4-month supply of OCPs, condoms, and in-person counseling; general advice for followup as needed	2 RCTs (1,724) ^{54,55}	Similar rates of OCP continuation and condom use at 3,6, and 12 months; similar rates of contraceptive or LARC use at 6 months.	Moderate
	STI rates	Supplemental telephone counseling	4-month supply of OCPs, condoms, and in-person counseling;	1 RCT (1,155) ⁵⁴	Similar rates of STI among low income patients aged 16-24 years.	Low
	Pregnancy rates	Supplemental telephone counseling	4-month supply of OCPs, condoms, and in-person counseling;	1 RCT (1,155)	Similar pregnancy rates among low income patients aged 16-24 years.	Low
	Abortion rates	Structured telephone support ⁵⁵	General advice for followup as needed	1 RCT (569)	Similar rates of abortion in both groups of postabortion patients at 1 year; similar reduction in subsequent abortion rates within 2 years.	Insufficient
STI Counseling	NA	NA	NA	No studies	NA	NA
IPV	IPV rates	NA	NA	No studies	NA	Insufficient
	Depression scores	In-person interviews followed by phone calls; interactive online tools	Referral; noninteractive online tools	3 RCTs (1,190)	Telehealth is at least as effective as usual care alternatives for improving measures of depression.	Low
	PTSD scores	Interactive online tools	Noninteractive online tools	1 RCT (462)	No differences in PTSD symptoms between interactive vs. noninteractive online tools.	Insufficient
	Fear, coercive control	Interactive online tools	Noninteractive online tools	2 RCTs (884)	No differences between interactive vs. noninteractive online tools.	Low
	Self-efficacy	Interactive online tools; computerized encounters; in-person interviews followed by phone calls	Noninteractive online tools; in- person encounters; referral	3 RCTs (919)	Telehealth is at least as effective as usual care alternatives for improving self-efficacy scores.	Low
	Safety behaviors	Telephone calls; computerized encounters; in-person interviews followed by phone calls	Usual care; in-person encounters; referral	3 RCTs (763)	Telehealth is at least as effective as usual care for increasing safety behaviors.	Low
	Harms	Interactive online tool	Noninteractive online tool	1 RCT (231)	No difference in patient reported anxiety using a tailored, online safety tool vs. a static version.	Insufficient

Table 5. Summary of Evidence of the Effectiveness of Telehealth Interventions

*Outcomes reported separately; the same study may report different outcomes

Abbreviations: LARC=long acting reversible contraception; NA= not applicable; OCPs=oral contraceptive pills; STI=sexually transmitted infection; RCT=randomized controlled trial

Findings in Relation to What is Already Known

While this systematic review demonstrates a paucity of data to inform the effectiveness of telehealth interventions for family planning, contraception, STI counseling, or IPV services, other systematic reviews have found that telehealth interventions for other women's health services (e.g., smoking cessation, breastfeeding, medication abortion, and high-risk obstetric scheduling) were associated with improved clinical outcomes.⁹ Our findings are consistent with a 2019 systematic review that found that telehealth interventions were effective for contraceptive continuation, but that review did not include interventions for contraceptive care that were bidirectional.

Remote provision using telehealth strategies for contraceptive care and reproductive health services is not a new practice. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, a wide range of reproductive health services were already being offered via telehealth.⁹¹ The use telehealth for contraceptive care is increasingly more common, as demonstrated by a 2017 survey indicating that contraceptive care (e.g., counseling, surveillance, provision) represented four of the five most commonly reported uses of telehealth for reproductive health care services.⁹¹ Currently there are no federal limitations to the use of telemedicine for contraceptive services, but variation in state laws that may have different requirements for in-person services could impose specific limitations for telehealth.⁹²

Telehealth platforms (e.g., telephone and video visits) have also been effectively used to provide access to medication abortion and have been a viable care strategy for over a decade.^{93,94} More recently, the AAFP has endorsed the expanded use of telehealth for reproductive health services, including medication abortion.^{95,96} As women face an increase in state-by-state abortion restrictions,⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹ access to these services are becoming more limited,¹⁰⁰ particularly among those who already have limited access to reproductive health care.¹⁰¹ Importantly, telehealth for medication abortion has been shown to be an effective and safe alternative and is acceptable to patients compared with in-person care.¹⁰² Guidance on implementation of these services in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic is also available¹⁰³ and supported by organizations such as ACOG, the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology, and the Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine, among others.¹⁰⁴

Clinical decision aids are another example of how technology has been utilized to enhance clinical care. Although clinical decision aids were not evaluated in the context of telehealth interventions for this review, they could be applied as examples of tools that could be tested or adapted to facilitate care or serve as clinician extenders. For example, in a systematic review of achieving health equity in preventive services, cancer screening rates were higher in patients provided with navigation, including reminder calls, to facilitate receipt of preventive services.¹⁰⁵ Clinical decision aids have been described as effective methods to facilitate clinical care and to help patients navigate the clinical space.⁹¹ Future research could consider the role of decision aids and patient navigation strategies that are amenable for use in the telehealth setting. For example, a mobile app used as a clinical adjunct for contraceptive decision support improved contraceptive use at 3 and 6 months and increased patient satisfaction with visit quality and contraceptive choices compared with usual care.¹⁰⁶ Decision aids may be an unstudied area of potential tools that are available but have not yet been applied in the telehealth setting. These tools have been used to screen for IPV^{15,107} and facilitate contraceptive decision making.¹⁰⁶

Applicability

A number of issues could impact the applicability of our findings. Applicability of the findings of this review is limited by small study size, and limited geographic and clinical settings of the clinicians or patients surveyed. The scope of this review was defined to include a subset of preventive services for telehealth for a specific population (i.e., women presenting for reproductive health or IPV services). Of these services, we found only studies on contraceptive care and IPV services. Studies conducted specifically to evaluate the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the use and acceptability of telehealth for the defined preventive services may have limited applicability and scope. For example, the time period identified as a focus of this review includes a time characterized by a sudden acceleration in the adoption of telehealth services and concurrent rapid policy changes for reimbursement for health care services in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. There may also be studies of telehealth in this new context that are ongoing, but were not yet published at the time of this review.

Implications for Clinical and Policy Decisions

Our review has implications for clinical and policy decisionmaking. The majority of studies did not demonstrate significant differences in clinical outcomes and trials did not report differences in acceptability when telehealth modalities were used to enhance or replace in-person care. As such, when determining whether telehealth services should continue to be offered as a feasible option for the delivery of reproductive health or IPV services, it is critical to consider the comparable performance of these services. Importantly, the comparison used in many studies included for this review was usual care or in-person care; some telehealth interventions supplemented usual care. This assumes that the alternative to telehealth is in person care, rather than no care at all, as telehealth may improve access to care for those who otherwise might not receive care. There are populations whose clinical needs can be better met remotely because having access to telehealth-based care is as not as onerous as travelling long distances, taking time off work, or seeking childcare coverage to achieve their preventive health care needs.

One of the more significant impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on health care delivery is the transformative effect on the adoption of many forms of telehealth.^{30,108,109} Increased use of telehealth for direct patient care demonstrates how the pandemic has been a catalyst for changes in technology, policy, payment/reimbursement, and patient workflows. While there was initially a drastic increase in telehealth visits at the onset of the pandemic, these levels have since declined as patients, clinicians, and health care systems have adapted. However, the use of telehealth remains high and is unlikely to return to lower, pre-pandemic levels.¹¹⁰

This review of telehealth was conducted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and data on its effectiveness continues to emerge. As such, synthesizing the available evidence about the comparative effectiveness, acceptability, implementation, and methodological weaknesses of research studies, although limited, contributes to understanding about the future use of telehealth services for reproductive health and IPV. As data emerges in response to the rapid increase in telehealth utilization during the COVID-19 pandemic, future research should include rigorous studies measuring the impact of telehealth on health equity, access to care, and evaluating the effectiveness and harms of telehealth for women's preventive services, including studies in diverse populations and rural settings. Given that evidence specific to telehealth for women's preventive health services is incomplete, this review highlights the need for additional research in this area while continued coverage of telehealth services is considered.

Limitations of the Systematic Review Process'

We excluded non-English language articles and did not search for studies published only as abstracts. In addition to the limitations of the evidence base described below, there are limitations to the review process and the decisions, tools, and methods available for systematic reviews. Searching for telehealth studies related to reproductive health and IPV services poses several challenges that required assessing whether and how to use specific indexing and key word terms. While telehealth is increasingly indexed, it is a broad term that overlaps with others. Additionally, while the MeSH term "m-health" exists in Medline this does not capture all possible models of telehealth. Given these challenges, we worked with an expert research librarian with extensive experience with systematic reviews and tested combinations of index terms and key words. Our search strategies are included in **Appendix A**. Despite this approach and supplemental efforts that included checking references of included studies and systematic reviews, and suggestions from stakeholders and responses to requests for data, it is possible that relevant studies were missed.

Determining if similar outcomes confer a benefit depends on considering multiple factors, such as resources needed and how perspectives may differ (e.g., what is most important to a patient may not be what is most important to a clinician or a health system). For this reason, we reported when outcomes were similar, and then discussed the context to help facilitate conclusions about whether similar outcomes with telehealth can be interpreted as a benefit. Given the variety of study designs, interventions, outcomes and the lack of detail on comparators in many studies, we were unable to conduct quantitative synthesis, or meta-analyses. This heterogeneity is also challenging for qualitative synthesis of the effectiveness studies.

Limitations of Evidence Base

We identified 14 studies that evaluated the effectiveness or implementation of telehealth interventions for women's reproductive health and IPV services, with contraceptive care being the only reproductive health service addressed. Important limitations to this evidence base need to be considered as they impact the utility of this research for practice and policy decisions. Most of the key limitations are related to the lack of relevant telehealth studies for these particular preventive services, the relative weakness of study designs used in this field, the rigor with which the studies were executed, and the completeness of reporting of key outcomes (**Table 6**). Many excluded studies implemented telehealth approaches that were not bidirectional or did not link to clinical care. Other common reasons studies did not meet inclusion criteria were ineligible interventions, populations, or lack of comparators.

Most of the included studies were small and not randomized trials. Many studies of telehealth were cross-sectional and compared outcomes before and after the implementation of telehealth or compared cohorts of patients, clinicians, or organizations with and without telehealth and did not include comparison groups or efforts to isolate the effect of telehealth from historical trends or changes over time resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Six trials and five observational studies were rated moderate risk of bias; two were rated low and one was rated high risk of bias (**Appendix F**). Methodological limitations of moderate and high risk of bias studies were related to selection bias (e.g., whether inclusion was based on a random sample or all that met inclusion criteria and whether analyses account for important potential confounding); unclear blinding; high levels of attrition or differential loss to followup; and unclear use of statistical methods.

In studies of telehealth, interpreting these results requires consideration of the context and the intended function of the telehealth intervention. For this reason, we expressed the overall effect as whether the outcome measured and analyzed in the studies is better, worse, or similar with telehealth compared with clinical interactions without telehealth. When outcomes are better or worse, the interpretation is relatively clear. If telehealth is used to provide access to additional services and patient outcomes are found to be better, telehealth is providing a benefit. If a study finds patient outcomes are worse, then telehealth is having a negative impact or causing harm. Evaluating the impact of interventions is less clear when patient outcomes are found to be similar with and without telehealth. However, some of the available trials demonstrated benefit in both groups, which is particularly challenging when outcomes are measured on scales with unclear clinical application.

The main limitation of this evidence base is small studies with sometimes conflicting results. While there were no studies conducted in rural settings, it might be possible to use telehealth to allow health care to be delivered in rural locations as an alternative to transferring a patient or requiring travel to a non-rural setting. More research is needed to identify the disadvantages telehealth may pose in effectively delivering preventive services to specific underserved populations.

Domain	Limitations of the Evidence
Populations	 Mostly adolescents and younger women; limited studies in some clinical areas; lack of reporting on or analyses of social determinants of health and sociodemographic factors
Interventions	 Limited detail on some interventions (content, approach, frequency of interactions), especially mobile applications and websites
Comparisons	 Variation in comparators and definition of usual care; interventions to enhance usual care were not always clinically distinct
Outcomes	 For some, lack of clear definitions or variability in outcome definition or measure Lack of telehealth harms outcomes Access and health equity outcomes not reported; simple reporting of utilization does not address access
Setting	 No studies of patients in rural areas; reporting is limited to the location of the clinician or services provided
Study Design	 Few RCTs of contraception and IPV No RCTs for STI counseling and family planning Risk of bias limitations (Appendix F) Studies conducted during pandemic used observational study design that have inherently higher risk of bias (pre-post or cross-sectional)

Table 6.	Limitations of the Evidence
----------	-----------------------------

Abbreviations: IPV=interpersonal violence; RCT=randomized controlled trials; STI=sexually transmitted infection

Conclusions

Limited evidence suggests that telehealth interventions for contraceptive care and IPV services are associated with clinical and patient-reported outcomes similar to in-person care. Uncertainty remains on the most effective approaches for delivering these services and how to best mobilize telehealth to address women's health care needs, particularly for those who are geographically isolated or in underserved populations.

References

- 1. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Methods guide for effectiveness and comparative effectiveness reviews. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); January 2014.
- 2. Women's Preventive Services Initiative. Recommendations for preventive services for women: final report to the US Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources & Services Administration; American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. 2016.
- 3. Women's Preventive Services Initiative. About WPSI implementation efforts. <u>https://www.womenspreventivehealt</u> <u>h.org/implementation/about-wpsiimplementation-efforts/</u>. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 4. Baker A. Crossing the quality chasm: a new health system for the 21st century. BMJ. 2001;323:1192. doi: 10.1136/bmj.323.7322.1192.
- 5. Health Resources & Services Administration. Billing for telehealth during COVID-19. <u>https://www.telehealth.hhs.gov/provi</u> <u>ders/billing-and-reimbursement/</u>. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- Mehrotra A, Bhatia RS, Snoswell CL. Paying for telemedicine after the pandemic. JAMA. 2021;325(5):431-2. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.25706. PMID: 33528545.
- Cantor A, Nelson HD, Pappas M.
 Well-woman preventive visits evidence summary.
 Recommendations for preventive

services for women : final report to the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Resources & Services Administration / developed by the Multidisciplinary Steering Committee of the Women's Preventive Services Initiative. Washington, DC; 2017.

- Phipps MG, Son S, Zahn C, et al. Women's preventive services initiative's well-woman chart: a summary of preventive health recommendations for women. Obstet Gynecol. 2019;134(3):465-9. doi: 10.1097/aog.00000000003368. PMID: 31403594.
- 9. DeNicola N, Grossman D, Marko K, et al. Telehealth Interventions to Improve Obstetric and Gynecologic Health Outcomes: A Systematic Review. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2020;135(2):371-82. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000003646. PMID: 31977782.
- 10. Chernick LS, Stockwell MS, Wu M, et al. Texting to increase contraceptive initiation among adolescents in the emergency department. J Adolesc Health. 2017;61(6):786-90. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.07.021. PMID: 29056437.
- 11. Thiel de Bocanegra H, Bradsberry M, Lewis C, et al. Do bedsider family planning mobile text message and e-mail reminders increase kept appointments and contraceptive coverage? Womens Health Issues. 2017;27(4):420-5. doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2017.02.001. PMID: 28284586.
- 12. Bull S, Devine S, Schmiege SJ, et al. Text messaging, teen outreach

program, and sexual health behavior: a cluster randomized trial. Am J Public Health. 2016;106(S1):S117-S24. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303363. PMID: 27689478.

- Hegarty K, Tarzia L, Valpied J, et al. An online healthy relationship tool and safety decision aid for women experiencing intimate partner violence (I-DECIDE): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Public Health. 2019;4(6):e301-e10. doi: 10.1016/s2468-2667(19)30079-9. PMID: 31155223.
- 14. Constantino RE, Braxter B, Ren D, et al. Comparing Online with Faceto-Face HELPP Intervention in Women Experiencing Intimate Partner Violence. Issues Ment Health Nurs. 2015;36(6):430-8. doi: 10.3109/01612840.2014.991049. PMID: 26241569.
- Eden KB, Perrin NA, Hanson GC, et al. Use of online safety decision aid by abused women: effect on decisional conflict in a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med. 2015;48(4):372-83. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.09.027. PMID: 25547929.
- Sundstrom B, DeMaria AL, Ferrara M, et al. "The closer, the better:" the role of telehealth in increasing contraceptive access among women in rural South Carolina. Matern Child Health J. 2019;23(9):1196-205. doi: 10.1007/s10995-019-02750-3. PMID: 31228142.
- Beardsworth KM, Doshi U, Raymond E, et al. Miles and days until medical abortion via TelAbortion versus clinic in Oregon and Washington, USA. BMJ Sex

Reprod Health. 2021 doi: 10.1136/bmjsrh-2020-200972. PMID: 33789954.

- Alhusen J, Bloom T, Clough A, et al. Development of the MyPlan Safety Decision app with friends of college women in abusive dating relationships. J Technol Hum Serv. 2015;33(3):263-82. doi: 10.1080/15228835.2015.1037414.
- 19. Glass NE, Perrin NA, Hanson GC, et al. The longitudinal impact of an internet safety decision aid for abused women. Am J Prev Med. 2017;52(5):606-15. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.014. PMID: 28108189.
- 20. Koziol-McLain J, Vandal AC, Wilson D, et al. Efficacy of a webbased safety decision aid for women experiencing intimate partner violence: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res. 2018;19(12):e426. doi: 10.2196/jmir.8617. PMID: 29321125.
- Nouri S, Khoong EC, Lyles CR, et al. Addressing equity in telemedicine for chronic disease management during the Covid-19 pandemic. NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv. 2020 doi: 10.1056/CAT.20.0123.
- 22. Lyles CR, Sarkar U. Health literacy, vulnerable patients, and health information technology use: where do we go from here? J Gen Intern Med. 2015;30(3):271-2. doi: 10.1007/s11606-014-3166-5. PMID: 25588688.
- 23. Schifeling C, Shanbhag P, Johnson A, et al. Disparities in video and telephone visits among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional analysis. JMIR

Aging. 2020;3(2):e23176. doi: 10.2196/23176. PMID: 33048821.

- Vilda D, Hardeman R, Dyer L, et al. Structural racism, racial inequities and urban-rural differences in infant mortality in the US. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2021 doi: 10.1136/jech-2020-214260. PMID: 33504545.
- 25. Saluja B, Bryant Z. How implicit bias contributes to racial disparities in maternal morbidity and mortality in the United States. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2021;30(2):270-3. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2020.8874. PMID: 33237843.
- 26. Kozhimannil KB, Interrante JD, Henning-Smith C, et al. Rural-urban differences in severe maternal morbidity and mortality in the US, 2007-15. Health Aff (Millwood). 2019;38(12):2077-85. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00805. PMID: 31794322.
- 27. Gadson A, Akpovi E, Mehta PK. Exploring the social determinants of racial/ethnic disparities in prenatal care utilization and maternal outcome. Semin Perinatol. 2017;41(5):308-17. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2017.04.008. PMID: 28625554.
- Carter EB, EleVATE Women Collaborative, Mazzoni SE. A paradigm shift to address racial inequities in perinatal healthcare. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;224(4):359-61. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.11.040. PMID: 33306974.
- 29. Mehrotra A, Ray K, Brockmeyer DM, et al. Rapidly converting to "virtual practices": outpatient care in the era of Covid-19. NEJM catalyst

innovations in care delivery. 2020;1(2).

- 30. Betancourt JA, Rosenberg MA, Zevallos A, et al. The impact of COVID-19 on telemedicine utilization across multiple service lines in the United States. Healthcare (Basel). 2020;8(4):380. doi: 10.3390/healthcare8040380. PMID: 33019667.
- Rockwell K, Gilroy A. Incorporating telemedicine as part of COVID-19 outbreak response systems. Am J Manag Care. 2020;26(4):147-8. doi: 10.37765/ajmc.2020.42784. PMID: 32270980.
- Hong YR, Lawrence J, Williams D, Jr., et al. Population-level interest and telehealth capacity of US hospitals in response to COVID-19: cross-sectional analysis of Google search and National Hospital Survey data. JMIR Public Health Surveill. 2020;6(2):e18961. doi: 10.2196/18961. PMID: 32250963.
- 33. Evans ML, Lindauer M, Farrell ME. A pandemic within a pandemic intimate partner violence during Covid-19. N Engl J Med. 2020;383(24):2302-4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2024046. PMID: 32937063.
- Boserup B, McKenney M, Elkbuli A. Alarming trends in US domestic violence during the COVID-19 pandemic. Am J Emerg Med. 2020;38(12):2753-5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.04.077. PMID: 32402499.
- 35. Lennard N. Domestic Violence Is on the Rise With Coronavirus Lockdown. The Responses Are Missing the Point.; 2020. <u>https://theintercept.com/2020/04/13/</u>

coronavirus-lockdown-domesticviolence/. Accessed April 20 2021.

- Emezue C. Digital or digitally delivered responses to domestic and intimate partner violence during COVID-19. JMIR Public Health Surveill. 2020;6(3):e19831. doi: 10.2196/19831. PMID: 32678797.
- 37. Viero A, Barbara G, Montisci M, et al. Violence against women in the Covid-19 pandemic: a review of the literature and a call for shared strategies to tackle health and social emergencies. Forensic Sci Int. 2021;319:110650. doi: 10.1016/j.forsciint.2020.110650. PMID: 33340849.
- 38. Portland Police Bureau, Strategic Services Division. Trends analysis: pre & post school closures – April 29, 2020. 2020. <u>https://www.portlandoregon.gov/poli</u> <u>ce/article/760238</u>. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 39. City of San Antonio, Department of Government and Public Affairs. Social distancing doesn't mean safety distancing. 2020. <u>https://www.sanantonio.gov/gpa/Ne</u><u>ws/ArtMID/24373/ArticleID/18724/</u> <u>Social-distancing-doesn</u>. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 40. New York Police Department. Domestic violence reports. <u>https://www1.nyc.gov/site/nypd/stats</u> /<u>reports-analysis/domestic-</u> <u>violence.page</u>. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 41. Frederiksen BN, Ranji U, Salganicoff A, et al. Women's Experiences with Health Care During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Findings from the KFF Women's Health Survey. Kaiser Family

Foundation; 2021. https://www.kff.org/womens-healthpolicy/issue-brief/womensexperiences-with-health-care-duringthe-covid-19-pandemic-findingsfrom-the-kff-womens-health-survey/. Accessed December 10, 2021.

- 42. US Department of Health and Human Services. HHS awards \$20 million to combat COVID-19 pandemic through telehealth. 2020. https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/202 0/04/30/hhs-awards-20-million-tocombat-covid19-pandemic-throughtelehealth.html. Accessed April 20 2021.
- 43. Smith K. Biden administration to lift abortion pill restriction amid pandemic. 2021.
 <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/abortion-pill-restrictions-lifted-pandemic-fda/</u>. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 44. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. HHS Announces
 \$35 Million for Telehealth in the Title X Family Planning Program. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2021. Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 45. Heintzman J, O'Malley J, Marino M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Testing and Changes in Primary Care Services in a Multistate Network of Community Health Centers During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA. 2020;324(14):1459-62. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.15891. PMID: 32870237.
- 46. National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities. HD Pulse: an ecosystem of health disparities and minority health resources. 2017. <u>https://hdpulse.nimhd.nih.gov/</u>. Accessed Accessed May, 2019.

- 47. Goldstein KM, Zullig LL, Dedert EA, et al. Telehealth interventions designed for women: an evidence map. J Gen Intern Med. 2018;33(12):2191-200. doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4655-8. PMID: 30284173.
- 48. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Population Affairs. About Title X Service Grants. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2021. <u>https://opa.hhs.gov/grantprograms/title-x-servicegrants/about-title-x-service-grants.</u> Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 49. Furlan AD, Malmivaara A, Chou R, et al. 2015 Updated method guideline for systematic reviews in the cochrane back and neck group. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2015;40(21):1660-73. doi: 10.1097/brs.0000000000001061. PMID: 26208232.
- 50. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Methods and Processes. Rockville, MD; 2019. <u>https://www.uspreventiveservicestas</u> <u>kforce.org/uspstf/aboutuspstf/methods-and-processes</u>. Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 51. National Heart L, and Blood Institute,. Study quality assessment tools. Bethesda, MD; 2021. <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 52. Hersh W, Totten A, Eden K, et al. Health information exchange. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep). 2015 (220):1-465. doi: 10.23970/ahrqepcerta220. PMID: 30307736.

- 53. Atkins D, Chang S, Gartlehner G, et al. AHRQ Methods for Effective Health Care Assessing the Applicability of Studies When Comparing Medical Interventions. Methods Guide for Effectiveness and Comparative Effectiveness Reviews. AHRQ Publication No. 11-EHC019-EF. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2008.
- 54. Berenson AB, Rahman M. A randomized controlled study of two educational interventions on adherence with oral contraceptives and condoms. Contraception. 2012;86(6):716-24. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2012.06.007. PMID: 22840278.
- 55. Kumar U, Pollard L, Campbell L, et al. Specialist follow-up contraceptive support after abortion-Impact on effective contraceptive use at six months and subsequent abortions: A randomised controlled trial. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]. 2019;14(6):e0217902. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217902. PMID: 31185058.
- 56. Hill BJ, Lock L, Anderson B. Racial and ethnic differences in family planning telehealth use during the onset of the COVID-19 response in Arkansas, Kansas, Missouri, and Oklahoma. Contraception. 2021;104(3):262-4. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.05.016. PMID: 34058223.
- 57. Steiner RJ, Zapata LB, Curtis KM, et al. COVID-19 and sexual and reproductive health care: findings from primary care providers who serve adolescents. J Adolesc Health. 2021;69(3):375-82. doi:

10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.06.002. PMID: 34301467.

- 58. Stifani BM, Avila K, Levi EE. Telemedicine for contraceptive counseling: an exploratory survey of US family planning providers following rapid adoption of services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Contraception. 2021;103(3):157-62. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2020.11.006. PMID: 33212033.
- 59. Stifani BM, Smith A, Avila K, et al. Telemedicine for contraceptive counseling: patient experiences during the early phase of the COVID-19 pandemic in New York City. Contraception. 2021;104(3):254-61. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.04.006. PMID: 33861981.
- 60. Zapata LB, Curtis KM, Steiner RJ, et al. COVID-19 and family planning service delivery: findings from a survey of U.S. physicians. Prev Med. 2021;150:106664. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106664. PMID: 34081938.
- 61. Ford-Gilboe M, Varcoe C, Scott-Storey K, et al. Longitudinal impacts of an online safety and health intervention for women experiencing intimate partner violence: randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):260. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-8152-8. PMID: 32098633.
- 62. Gilbert L, Shaw SA, Goddard-Eckrich D, et al. Project WINGS (Women Initiating New Goals of Safety): A randomised controlled trial of a screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment (SBIRT) service to identify and address

intimate partner violence victimisation among substance-using women receiving community supervision. Crim Behav Ment Health. 2015;25(4):314-29. doi: 10.1002/cbm.1979. PMID: 26482019.

- 63. Saftlas AF, Harland KK, Wallis AB, et al. Motivational interviewing and intimate partner violence: a randomized trial. Ann Epidemiol. 2014;24(2):144-50. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.10.006. PMID: 24252714.
- 64. McFarlane J, Malecha A, Gist J, et al. Increasing the safety-promoting behaviors of abused women. Am J Nurs. 2004;104(3):40-50; quiz -1. doi: 10.1097/00000446-200403000-00019. PMID: 15108570.
- 65. Krishnamurti T, Davis AL, Quinn B, et al. Mobile remote monitoring of intimate partner violence among pregnant patients during the COVID-19 shelter-in-place order: quality improvement pilot study. J Med Internet Res. 2021;23(2):e22790. doi: 10.2196/22790. PMID: 33605898.
- 66. Sabri B, Hartley M, Saha J, et al. Effect of COVID-19 pandemic on women's health and safety: a study of immigrant survivors of intimate partner violence. Health Care Women Int. 2020;41(11-12):1294-312. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2020.1833012. PMID: 33085577.
- 67. Becker NV, Moniz MH, Tipirneni R, et al. Utilization of women's preventive health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Health Forum. 2021;2(7):e211408-e. doi:

10.1001/jamahealth forum. 2021. 1408

- 68. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Trends in STD case reports during the U.S. COVID-19 pandemic, January-December 2020. 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/newsro</u> <u>om/2021/2020-std-trend-report.html</u>. Accessed November 12, 2021.
- 69. Kaufman HW, Chen Z, Niles J, et al. Changes in the number of US patients with newly identified cancer before and during the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(8):e2017267-e. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.172 67. PMID: 32749465.
- 70. Cortez C, Mansour O, Qato DM, et al. Changes in short-term, long-term, and preventive care delivery in US office-based and telemedicine visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Health Forum. 2021;2(7):e211529-e. doi: 10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.1529
- Marcondes FO, Cheng D, Warner ET, et al. The trajectory of racial/ethnic disparities in the use of cancer screening before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a large U.S. academic center analysis. Prev Med. 2021;151:106640. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106640. PMID: 34217419.
- 72. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Implementing telehealth in practice: ACOG Committee opinion summary, number 798. Obstet Gynecol. 2020;135(2):493-4. doi:

10.1097/AOG.00000000003672. PMID: 31977794.

- 73. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. COVID-19 FAQs for obstetrician-gynecologists, telehealth. Washington, DC; 2020. <u>https://www.acog.org/clinicalinformation/physician-faqs/covid-19faqs-for-ob-gyns-telehealth</u>. Accessed December 6, 2020.
- 74. Women's Preventive Services Initiative. Telehealth FAQ for preventive care. 2020. <u>https://www.womenspreventivehealt</u> <u>h.org/new-telehealth-faq/</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 75. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Using telehealth to expand access to essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2020. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/20</u> <u>19-ncov/hcp/telehealth.html</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 76. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Ensuring access to family planning services during COVID-19. 2021. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehe</u> <u>alth/contraception/covid-19-family-</u> <u>planning-services.html</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- Korioth T. Continued support of telehealth services urged to address disparities: AAP. American Academy of Pediatrics; 2021.
 <u>https://publications.aap.org/aapnews/ news/15609?autologincheck=redirec</u> ted. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 78. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Telemedicine. 2021. <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/</u>

benefits/telemedicine/index.html. Accessed November 12, 2021.

- 79. Telligen, Great Plains Telehealth Resource Assistance Center. Telehealth: start-up and resource guide. Oct 2014. <u>https://www.healthit.gov/sites/defaul</u> <u>t/files/telehealthguide_final_0.pdf</u>.
- 80. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. General provider telehealth and telemedicine tool kit. 2020. <u>https://www.aafp.org/dam/AAFP/do</u> <u>cuments/advocacy/prevention/crisis/</u> <u>CMSGeneralTelemedicineToolkit.pd</u> <u>f</u>.
- 81. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Managing patients remotely: billing for digital and telehealth services. Washington, DC; 2020. <u>https://www.acog.org/practicemanagement/coding/codinglibrary/managing-patients-remotelybilling-for-digital-and-telehealthservices</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 82. Women's Preventive Services Initiative. Recommendations. <u>https://www.womenspreventivehealt</u> <u>h.org/recommendations/</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 83. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Recommedation topics. <u>https://www.uspreventiveservicestas</u> <u>kforce.org/uspstf/topic search result</u> <u>s?topic status=P</u>. Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 84. American Academy of Family Physicians. Telehealth and Telemedicine. 2021. <u>https://www.aafp.org/about/policies/</u><u>all/telehealth-telemedicine.html</u>. Accessed November 17, 2021.

- 85. Tolu LB, Feyissa GT, Jeldu WG. Guidelines and best practice recommendations on reproductive health services provision amid COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. BMC Public Health. 2021;21(1):276. Table 1, Characteristics of identified records and common practice recommendations areas. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10346-2.
- 86. Upadhyay UD, Koenig LR, Meckstroth KR. Safety and efficacy of telehealth medication abortions in the US during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(8):e2122320-e. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.223 20. PMID: 34427682.
- 87. Tolu LB, Feyissa GT. Guidelines and best practice recommendations on contraception and safe abortion care service provision amid COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. Research Square; 2020.
- 88. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Guidance and resources during disruption of STD clinical services. 2020. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/std/prevention/</u> <u>disruptionGuidance.htm</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 89. American Academy of Pediatrics. Telehealth and adolescent health care: what can pediatric clinicians do?; 2021. <u>https://www.aap.org/en/practicemanagement/care-delivery-</u> <u>approaches/telehealth/telehealth-and-</u> <u>adolescent-health-care-what-can-</u> <u>pediatric-clinicians-do/</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 90. Zero O, Geary M. COVID-19 and intimate partner violence: a call to

action. R I Med J. 2020;103(5):57-9. PMID: 32481784.

- 91. Weigel G, Frederiksen BN, Ranji U, et al. Telemedicine in sexual and reproductive health. Kaiser Family Foundation; 2019. <u>https://www.kff.org/womens-healthpolicy/issue-brief/telemedicine-insexual-and-reproductive-health/</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 92. Nash E, Mohammed L, Capello O, et al. State policy trends 2020: reproductive health and rights in a year like no other. Guttmacher Institute; 2020. <u>https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2</u> 020/12/state-policy-trends-2020reproductive-health-and-rights-year-<u>no-other</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.
- 93. Planned Parenthood. Planned parenthood releases new educational video on telemedicine abortion.
 2018. https://www.plannedparenthood.org/

<u>about-us/newsroom/press-</u> <u>releases/planned-parenthood-</u> <u>releases-new-educational-video-on-</u> <u>telemedicine-abortion</u>. Accessed November 15, 2021.

- 94. Grossman D, Grindlay K, Buchacker T, et al. Effectiveness and acceptability of medical abortion provided through telemedicine. Obstet Gynecol. 2011;118(2 Pt 1):296-303. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e318224d110. PMID: 21775845.
- 95. Raymond E, Chong E, Winikoff B, et al. TelAbortion: evaluation of a direct to patient telemedicine abortion service in the United States. Contraception; 2019. p. 173-7.

- 96. Grossman D, Grindlay K. Safety of medical abortion provided through telemedicine compared with in person. Obstet Gynecol. 2017;130(4):778-82. doi: 10.1097/aog.00000000002212. PMID: 28885427.
- 97. Bateson DJ, Lohr PA, Norman WV, et al. The impact of COVID-19 on contraception and abortion care policy and practice: experiences from selected countries. BMJ Sex Reprod Health. 2020;46(4):241-3. doi: 10.1136/bmjsrh-2020-200709. PMID: 32788180.
- 98. Carter D. Abortion Access During COVID-19, State by State. Rewire News Group; 2020. <u>https://rewirenewsgroup.com/article/</u> 2020/04/14/abortion-access-covid-<u>states/</u>. Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 99. Nash E, Mohammed L, Cappello O, et al. State Policy Trends at Mid-Year 2019: States Race to Ban or Protect Abortion. Guttmacher Institute; 2019. <u>https://www.guttmacher.org/article/2</u> 019/07/state-policy-trends-mid-year-2019-states-race-ban-or-protect-<u>abortion</u>. Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 100. Relating to abortion, including abortions after detection of an unborn child's heartbeat; authorizing a private civil right of action. 87(R) ed; 2021.
- 101. Joyce T, Kaestner R. The impact of Mississippi's mandatory delay law on the timing of abortion. Fam Plann Perspect. 2000;32(1):4-13. PMID: 10710701.
- 102. Chong E, Shochet T, Raymond E, et al. Expansion of a direct-to-patient

telemedicine abortion service in the United States and experience during the COVID-19 pandemic. Contraception. 2021;104(1):43-8. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.03.019.

103. Raymond EG, Grossman D, Mark A, et al. Commentary: no-test medication abortion: a sample protocol for increasing access during a pandemic and beyond. Contraception. 2020;101(6):361-6. doi:
10.1016/j.contraception.2020.04.005. PMID: 32305289.

- 104. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Joint Statement on Abortion Access During the COVID-19 Outbreak. Washington, D.C.: American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; 2020. <u>https://www.acog.org/news/newsreleases/2020/03/joint-statement-onabortion-access-during-the-covid-19outbreak</u>. Accessed December 10, 2021.
- 105. Nelson HD, Cantor A, Wagner J, et al. Effectiveness of patient navigation to increase cancer screening in populations adversely affected by health disparities: a meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35(10):3026-35. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06020-9. PMID: 32700218.
- 106. Tebb KP, Rodriguez F, Pollack LM, et al. Improving contraceptive use among Latina adolescents: a cluster-

randomized controlled trial evaluating an mHealth application, Health-E You/Salud iTu. Contraception. 2021;104(3):246-53. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2021.03.004. PMID: 33744300.

- 107. Ahmad F, Hogg-Johnson S, Stewart DE, et al. Computer-assisted screening for intimate partner violence and control: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151(2):93-102. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-151-2-200907210-00124. PMID: 19487706.
- 108. Steeves-Reece AL, Elder NC, Graham TA, et al. Rapid deployment of a statewide COVID-19 ECHO program for frontline clinicians: early results and lessons learned. J Rural Health. 2021;37(1):227-30. doi: 10.1111/jrh.12462. PMID: 32396224.
- 109. Dosaj A, Thiyagarajan D, Ter Haar C, et al. Rapid Implementation of Telehealth Services During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Telemed J E Health. 2021;27(2):116-20. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0219. PMID: 32706616.
- 110. Patel SY, Mehrotra A, Huskamp HA, et al. Trends in Outpatient Care Delivery and Telemedicine During the COVID-19 Pandemic in the US. JAMA Intern Med. 2021;181(3):388-91. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.5928. PMID: 33196765.

Abbreviations and Acronyms

AAFP	American Academy of Family Physicians
ACA	Affordable Care Act
ACOG	American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology
AHRQ	Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
С	clinic visits
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CER	Comparative effectiveness review
CES-D	Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale
CI	confidence interval
CESD-R	Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale, Revised
CMS	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
COVID-19	Novel coronavirus infection
DVSE	Domestic Violence Self-Efficacy Scale
HR	hazard ratio
HRSA	Health Resources and Services Administration
IPV	Interpersonal violence
KQ	key question
LARC	Long-acting reversible contraception
MD	mean difference
NA	Not applicable
NIH	National Institutes of Health
NR	None reported
OC	Oral contraceptive
PCL-C	PTSD checklist, Civilian Version
PICOS	Population, intervention, comparisons, outcomes, settings, and study
	designs of interest
PTSD	Posttraumatic stress disorder
RCT	Randomized control trial
SD	standard deviation
SE	standard error
SEADS	Supplemental Evidence and Data for Systematic review
SMS	short messaging service
SOE	Strength of evidence
STD	Sexually transmitted disease
STI	Sexually transmitted infections
TEP	Technical Expert Panel
U.K.	United Kingdom

USPSTF	United States Preventive Services Task Force
WEB	Women's Experiences with Battering
WPSI	Women's Preventive Services Initiative